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August 30,2005 

BY OVERNIGHT DELIVERY 

Blanca S. Bayo 
Commission Clerk and Administrator Services 
Florida Public Service Commission 
2540 Shumard Oak Blvd. 
Tallahassee, Florida 3239XG5G 

oso5-74; 

Re: Application of Pac-West Telecomm, Inc. for Authority to Provide 
Alternative Local Exchange Service Within the State of Florida and Pac- 
West Telecomm, Inc.'s IXC Registration 

Dear Ms. Bayo: 

On behalf of Pac-West Telecomm, Inc., enclosed for filing are an original and six (6) 
copies of the application for authority to provide alternative local exchange service and an 
original and six (6) copies of the IXC registration. Also enclosed is a check in the amount of 
$250.00 to cover the application filing fee. 

Please date-stamp the extra copy of this filing and retuni it in the enclosed self-addressed, 
stamped envelope. Should you have any questions please do not hesitate to contact the 
undersigned. 

Respectfully submitted, 
n 

Brian M. McDermott 
Danielle C. Burt 
Counsel for Pac-West Telecoinm, h c .  

Enclosures 



SWIDLER BERLIN LLP 

REF. # 
23561 0 

INV. # 
3T082605 

DATE 
08-26-05 

3000 K STREET, N W SUITE 300,WASHINGTON, DC 20007 CHECK NO.: D 158709 

INVOICE AMOUNT 
250.00 

INVOICE DESCRIPTION 
State certification 

CUSTOMER NO. 

MOUNT PAID 
250.00 

SWIDLER BERLIN LLP 
3000 K STREET, N.W. SUITE 300 

WASHINGTON, DC 20007 

TWO HUNDRED FIFTY AND 00/100 Dollars 

PAY 
TO THE 
ORDER OF 

Florida Public Service Commission 

CHECK DATE 

oa/26/05 CHECKNO. D 158709 

Wachovia Bank DC Operating 
1300 I Street, N.W. 
12th Floor - 
Washington, DC 20005 

CHECK AMOUNT 

I 250.00******* 

TWO SIGNATURES REQUIRED ON CHECK 
OVER $25,000.00 

---.. 



** FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION ** 

DIVISION OF REGULATORY OVERSIGHT 
CERTIFICATION SECTION 

APPLICATION FORM 
for 

AUTHORITY TO PROVIDE 
ALTERNATIVE LOCAL EXCHANGE SERVICE 

WITHIN THE STATE OF FLORIDA 

Instructions 

This form is used as an application for an original certificate and for approval of 
the assignment or transfer of an existing certificate. In the case of an assignment 
or transfer, the information provided shall be for the assignee or transferee (See 
Page 12). 

Print or type all responses to each item requested in the application and 
appendices. If an item is not applicable, please explain why. 

Use a separate sheet for each answer which will not fit the allotted space. 

Once completed, submit the original and six (6) copies of this form along with a 
non-refundable application fee of $250.00 to: 

Florida Public Service Commission 
Division o f  Records and Reporting 
2540 Shumard Oak Blvd. 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0850 
(850) 41 3-6770 

If you have questions about completing the form, contact: 

Florida Public Service Commission 
Division of Regulatory Oversight 
Certification Section 
2540 Shumard Oak Blvd. 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0850 
(850) 41 3-6480 

FORM PSCICMU 8 (1 1/95) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.810, and 25-24.81 5 



AP P L lCATl0 N 

1. This is an application for .( (check one): 

Original certificate (new company). 

Approval of transfer of existing certificate: Example, a non-certificated 
company purchases an existing company and desires to retain the original 
certificate of authority. I 

Approval of assignment of existing certificate: Example, a certificated 
company purchases an existing company and desires to retain the certificate 
of authority of that company. I 

Approval of transfer of control: Example, a company purchases 51% of a 
certificated company. The Commission must approve the new controlling 
entity. 

2. Name of company: 

Pac-West Telecomm, Inc. 

3. Name under which the applicant will do business (fictitious name, etc.): 

Pac-West Telecomm, Inc. 

4. Official mailing address (including street name & number, post office box, city, 
state, zip code): 

1776 W. March Lane, Suite 250 
Stockton, CA 95207 

FORM PSClCMU 8 (1 1/95) 2 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.310, and 25-24.81 5 



5. 

6. 

7. 

8. 

Florida address (including street name & number, post office box, city, state, 
zip code): 

Pac-West does not have an office in Florida. 

Structure of organ ization : 

( ) Individual 
( 4 ) Foreign Corporation 
( ) General Partnership 
( )Other 

Please see Exhibit 1 for a copv of Pac-West’s Articles of Incorporation. 

If individual, provide: 

Name: N/A 

( ) Corporation 
( ) Foreign Partnership 
( ) Limited Partnership 

Title: 

Address: 

C ity/Sta te/Z i p : 

Telephone No.: Fax No.: 

Internet E-Mail Address: 

Internet Website Address: 

If incorporated in Florida, provide proof of authority to operate in Florida: 

(a) The Florida Secretary of State corporate registration number: 

9. If foreign corporation, provide proof of authority to operate in Florida: 

(a) The Florida Secretary of State corporate registration number: 

F05000004643 
Please see Exhibit 2 for a copv of Pac-West’s Certificate of Authoritv to 
Transact Business in Florida. 

FORM PSCICMU 8 (1 1/95) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.81 0, and 25-24.81 5 
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10. If using fictitious name-d/b/a, provide proof of compliance with fictitious name 
statute (Chapter 865.09, FS) to operate in Florida: 

(a) The Florida Secretary of State fictitious name registration number: 

NIA 

11. If a limited liabilitv partnership, provide proof of registration to operate in 
1 Florida: 

(a) The Florida Secretary of State registration number: 

NIA 
, 
1 

12. If a partnership, provide name, title and address of all partners and a copy of 
the partnership agreement. 

Name: NIA 

Title: 

Address: 

City/State/Zip: 

Telephone No.: Fax No.: 

Internet E-Mail Address: 

Internet We bsite Address: 

13. If a foreign limited partnership, provide proof of compliance with the foreign 
limited partnership statute (Chapter 620.169, FS), i f  applicable. 

(a) The Florida registration number: NIA 

14. Provide F.E.I. Number (if applicable): 68-0383568 

FORM PSCKMU 8 (1 1/95) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.810, and 25-24.815 
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15. Indicate if any of the officers, directors, or any of the ten largest stockholders 
have previously been: 

(a) adjudged bankrupt, mentally incompetent, or found guilty of any felony or of any 
crime, or whether such actions may result from pending proceedings. Provide 
explanation. 

(b) an officer, director, partner or stockholder in any other Florida certificated 
telephone company. If yes, give name of company and relationship. If no longer 
associated with company, give reason whv not. 

16. Who will serve as liaison to the Commission with regard to the following? 

(a) The application: 

Name: 

Title: 

Address: 

City/State/Zip: Washington, D.C. 20007-51 16 

Telephone No.: (202) 424-7500 Fax No.: (202) 424-7647 

I n t e r n e t E - M a i I Add res s : b m m cd e r m o t t @ s w i d I a w . co m or d c b u rt @, sw i d I aw . c o m 

Internet Website Address: www.swidlaw.com 

Brian McDermott or Danielle C. Burt 

Counsel for Pac-West Telecomm, Inc. 

3000 K Street, N.W, Suite 300 

FORM PSClCMU 8 (1 1/95) 
Required by Cornmission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.810, and 25-24.815 
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(b) Official point of contact for the ongoinq operations of the company: 

Name: Henry R. Carabelli 

Title: 

Address: 

City/State/Zip: Stockton, CA 95207 

Telephone No.: (800) 722-9378 Fax No.: (209) 926-4444 

Internet E-Mail Address: hcarabel@pacwest.com 

Internet Website Address: www.pacwest.com 

President and Chief Executive Officer 

1776 W. March Lane, Suite 250 

I 

I (c) Complaints/lnquiries from customers: I 

Name: Lynne MartinezlKim Reqo 

Title: 

Address: 

City/State/Zip: Stockton, CA 95207/Stockton, CA 95204 

Telephone No.: (209) 926-43394209) 926-4214 Fax No.: (209) 926-4585/(209) 926-4444 

Internet E-Mail Address: Imartin@zpacwest.com/krego@pacwest.com 

Internet Website Address: www.pacwest.com 

Director Government Affairs/Director of Customer Relations 

1776 W. March Lane, Suite 250/4210 Coronado Avenue 

17. List the states in which the applicant: 

(a) has operated as an alternative local exchange company 

Pac-West previously held authority to provide services in: Alabama, Alaska, Arkansas, 
Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Georqia, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, 
Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, 
Mississippi, Montana, Nebraska, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, North 
Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Pennsvlvania, Rhode Island, South Carolina, 
South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Vermont, Virginia, West Virginia, Wisconsin, and 
the District of Columbia. It previouslv surrendered its authorization in all states except 
Arizona, California, Colorado, Idaho, New Mexico, Nevada, Oregon, Utah and 
Washington. Pac-West has current operations in Arizona, California, Nevada, 
Oregon, Utah and Washington. 

(b) has applications pending to be certificated as an alternative local exchange 
com pan y . 

Pac-West has filed applications to provide competitive local exchange services in 

FORM PSC/CMU 8 ( I  1/95) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.810, and 25-24.81 5 
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the District of Columbia, Louisiana, Maryland, and Virginia. 

(c) is certificated to operate as an alternative local exchange company. 

Arizona, California, Colorado, Idaho, New Mexico, Nevada, Oregon, Utah and 
Washington. 

(d) has been denied authority to operate as an alternative local exchange 
company and the circumstances involved. 

None. 

(e) has had regulatory penalties imposed for violations of telecommunications 
statutes and the circumstances involved. 

Pac-West is not currently involved in any litigation with a customer of its tariff 
services. Pac-West is involved in disputes with other carriers. Those inter-carrier 
disputes are related to inter-carrier compensation, the terms of interconnection, or 
the arbitration of interconnection aqreements. Pac-West has in the normal course 
of business been a party to regulatory proceedings. The status of any legal 
proceedings is provided in Pac-West’s Form 10-K. A copy of the legal proceedinqs 
information contained in the Form 10-K is attached hereto as Exhibit 5. 

(9 has been involved in civil court proceedings with an interexchange carrier, 
local exchange company or other telecommunications entity, and the 
circumstances involved. 

Pac-West has in the normal course of business been a party to regulatorv 
proceedings. A copy of the legal proceedings information contained in the Form 10- 
K is attached hereto as Exhibit 5. 

18. Submit the following: 

A. Managerial capability: give resumes of employeeslofficers of the 
company that would indicate sufficient managerial experiences of each. 

Please see Exhibit 3. 

B. Technical capability: give resumes of employeeslofficers of the company 
that would indicate sufficient technical experiences or indicate what 
company has been contracted to conduct technical maintenance. 

Please see Exhibit 3. 

FORM PSClCMU 8 (1 1/95) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.810, and 25-24.81 5 
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C. Financial capability. 

The application should contain the applicant's audited financial statements for the 
most recent 3 years. If the applicant does not have audited financial statements, it 
shall so be stated. 

Please see Exhibit 4. 

The unaudited financial statements should be signed by the applicant's chief 
executive officer and chief financial officer affirminq that the financial Statements 
are true and correct and should include: 

1. the balance sheet: 

2. income statement: and 

3. statement of retained earnings. 

NOTE: This documentation may include, but is not limited to, financial statements, a 
projected profit and loss statement, credit references, credit bureau reports, and descriptions 
of business relationships with financial institutions. 

Further, the following (which includes supporting documentation) should be provided: 

1. written explanation that the applicant has sufficient financial capability to 
provide the requested service in the geographic area proposed to be served. 

2. written explanation that the applicant has sufficient financial capability to 
maintain the requested service. 

3. written explanation that the applicant has sufficient financial capability to meet 
its lease or ownership obligations. 

Please see Exhibit 4. 

FORM PSClCMU 8 (1 1/95) 8 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.810, and 25-24.81 5 



THIS PAGE MUST BE COMPLETED AND SIGNED 

APPLICANT ACKNOWLEDGMENT STATEMENT 

1. REGULATORY ASSESSMENT FEE: I understand that all telephone companies 
must pay a regulatory assessment fee in the amount of . I 5  of one percent of gross 
operating revenue derived from intrastate business. Regardless of the gross 
operating revenue of a company, a minimum annual assessment fee of $50 is 
required. 

2. APPLICATION FEE: I understand that a non-refundable application fee of 
$25@.0!! rmst be submitkc! w?b the  application. 

UT I L I TY 0 F F I C I AL : 

John Sumpter 
Print Name i 

/ 

Vice President of RequlatonJ 
Title 

209-926-3 1 36 
Telephone No. 

,A3 ia n &t u re 

209-925-4585 
Fax No. 

Address: 1776 March Lane, Suite 250 

Stockton, CA 95207 

Florida CLEC 



THIS PAGE MUST BE COMPLETED AND SIGNED 

AFFIDAVIT 

By my signature below, I, the undersigned officer, attest to the accuracy of the 
information contained in this application and attached documents and that the 
applicant has the technical expertise, managerial ability, and financial capability to 
provide alternative local exchange company service in the State of Florida. I have 
read the foregoing and declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the 
information is true and correct. I attest that I have the authority to sign on behalf of 
my company and agree to comply, now and in the future, with all appligable 
Commission rules and orders. 

Further, I am aware that, pursuant to Chapter 837.06, Florida Statutes, 
"Whoever knowingly makes a false statement in writing with the itltent tg 
mislead a public servant in the performance of his official duty sh'all be guilty 
of a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as provided in s. 
775.082 and s. 775.083." 

UT I L ITY 0 F F I C I AL : ,,/-- 

John Sumpter 
Print Name 

Vice President of Regulatorv 
Title Date I I 

209-926-31 36 
Telephone No. 

209-926-4585 
Fax No. 

Address: 1776 March Lane, Suite 250 

Stockton, CA 95207 

Florida CLEC 



EXHIBIT 1 

EXHIBIT 2 

EXHIBIT 3 

EXHIBIT 4 

EXHIBIT 5 

EXHIBITS 

Articles of Incorporation 

Certificate of Authority to Transact Business 

Managerial and Technical Qualifications 

Financial Qualifications 

Legal Proceedings 



EXHIBIT I 

Articles of Incorporation 



SECRETARY OF STATE 

I, BILL JONES, Secretary of State of the State of California, 
hereby certify: 

That the  a t tached transcript of 2 page(s) has 
been compared with the record on file in this office, of 
which it purports t o  be a copy, and that it is full, true 
and correct. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I execute this 
certificate and affix the Great Seal of 
the State of California this day of 

SEP 5 2000 

J Secretary of State 



_ _  
PAC-WEST TETECOMM, INC. 

WALLACE W. GRIFFIN and DENNIS V. E Y E R  certify that: 

1. They are the President and Assistant Secretary, respectively, of PAC- 
WEST TELECOIVIM, INC., a California corporation. 

2. The Articles of Incorporation of this corporation are amended and restattd 
in their entirety to read as follows: I 

ARTICLE I 

The name of this Corporation is Pac-West Telecomm, Inc. 

ARTICLE II 

The purpose of this Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for ' 

which a corporation may be organized under the General Corporation Law of California 
other than the banking business, the trust company business or the practice of a 
profession permitted to be incorporated by.the California Corporations Code. 

ARTICLE III 

Section 1. Authorized Shares. The corporation is authorized to issue two 
classes of shares, to be designated common and preferred, respectively. The corporation 
is authorized to issue 100,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share, 
and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock. 

Section 2. Preferred Shares. The shares of preferred stock may be issued in 
any number of series, as determined by the Board of Directors. The Board may, by 
resolution, establish the designation and number of shares of any such series, and may 
determine, alter or revoke the rights, preferences and restrictions pertaining to any wholly 
unissued series. The Board may thereafter, by resolution, alter the number of shares of 
any such series. 

312777-1 



ARTIcLErv 

Section 1. Elimination of Director Liability. The liability of directors of the 
Corporation for monetary damages shall be eliminated to the fullest extent permissible 
under California law. 

Section 2. Indemnification. The Corporation is authorized to provide 
indemnification of agents (as defined in Section 3 17 of the California Corporations Code) 
through Bylaw provisions, agreements with agents, vote of shareholders or disinterested 
directors, or otherwise, to the fullest extent permissible under California law. 

Section 3. Effect of Amendment. Any amendment, repeal or modification of 
any provision of this Article lV shall not adversely affect any right or protection of an 
agent of this Corporation existing at the rime of such amendment, repeal or modification. 

3 .  The foregoing amendment and restatement of Articles of Incorporation 
was duly approved by the Board of Directors of this Corporation. 

4. The foregoing amendment and restatement of Articles of Incorporation 
has been duly approved by the required vote of shareholders in accordance with Section 
902 of the California Corporations Code. The total number of outstanding shares of this 
Corporation entitled to vote with respect to the amendment was 
shares, the favorable vote of a majority of such shares is required to approve the 
amendment, and the number of such shares voting in favor of the amendment equaled or 
exceeded the required vote. All outstanding stock is common stock, no shares of 
preferred stock are outstanding. 

35.863.543 . 

5 Executed on @,/3 ii / ,2000, at Stockton, California 

We further declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the Stak of 
California that the matters set forth in this certificate are true and correct of our own 
knowledge. 

President 

2 



AMENDED AND VSTATED 
ARTICLES OF TSVCORPOR4fION 

OF 
PAC-WEST TELECOMM. INC. 

I !  
ARTICLE I 

The name of this Corpor2uon i s  Pac-West Teiecomm, Inc, 
1 1  

I 

ARTICLE I1 

n e  purpose of this Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or aaiviry for which 
a corporauon may be organized under the General Corporation Law of Califonia other than the 
banking business, rhe nus1 company business or the psacrice of a profession pennirred to be 
incarpornred by the California Corporarions Code. 

ARTICLE 111 

A. AUTHORIZED SHARES 

The toral number of shares of s a p i d  stock which LA Corporarion has authoriry 
issue is 1.673.000 s h e s ,  consisring of: 

(1) 175,000 shares of Class A Parricipaling Preferred Stock, par value 5.01 per 
share (the "glass A Prefgped"); and 

(2) 1.500,OOO s h e s  of Common Stock par value S.O1 per share (the "Common 
Stock"). 



B. CAPITAL STOCK 

Secu'on 1. Liquidation. Upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up uf &e 
Corporation (whether volunkry or involuntary), each holder of a share of Class A Preferred (a 
"Share") - shall be entitled ro be paid, before any Distribution or other payment is made upon any 
Juniar Securities, amount in cash equal ID &e amount which the holders of Class A Preferred art? 
entitled 10 be paid pursuant to Sedon 3 hcrtof. Not less than 30 days prior to the p,aymcnt date 
w e d  rherein, the Corporation shall mail witten notice of any such liquidauon, dissolution or 

' winding up to each record holder of Class A Preferred, sedng fonh in reasonable &Ml the amoun~ 
of procec& to be paid with respect 10 each Share in connection with swb liquidation, dissolution 
or winding up. The consolidauon or merger of the Corporation wirh or iom any orher enriry or 
enG&s jn which the Corporauon is not the surviving entity, or any other fom of recapitalization or 
reorganization affecting the Corporation in which the Corporarion iS not the surviving endry, shall 
be deemed to be a liquidadon. disscbdticr: cr ~ n d i n g  ut7 c ~ f  :he covra r ion  wi'iin rhe ~~~~~~ of 
[his Section I ,  except for any such merger. consolidalion, rccapitakarion or reorgani&on which 
is  effecred solely 10 change the state of incorporation of skt Corpontbn. 

Secuon 2. Pnoriry of Class A Prefetred OR Disrribudons. SO ions as tfierc is any 
Unpaid Yield or L'nrerurned Original Cost ourstanding, Wirhout rhe pnor WiKen consent of he 
holders of a majoriv o f  the outsranding sharks of Class A Prefehd. rhe Corporarion shail not, nor 
h f l  it permir any Subsidiary to, make my Disuiburion, direcdy or indirecrly, wirh respecr to any 
class A Preferred or Junior Securities other than in accordance with the provisions of Section 3 
below, except for (i) repurchases of Common Stock from pmmt or former employees or consultants 
of the Corporation and i ts  Subsidiaries upon rerminarion of employment or consu1tancy in 
accordancz wizh arrangements approved by !he Corporation's board o f  directors and so long 2s no 
Event of NoncompIiance is in existence immediately pnor to or is orhenvise caused by any such 
repuhase,  (ii) an>' redemption or repurchase of Class A Preferred or Common Stock pursuanr 10 
any right of first ref'usd, first offer or similar Fight in favor of the Corporation approvd by the 
Corporation's board of dir~t srs  SO long as no Even1 of Noncompliance i s  in existence immediately 
p ~ o r  io or is orherwise caused by any such repurchase. and (iii) dividends payable in shares of 
Common Stock issued upon rbe oursranding shares of Common Stock in compliance with the 
provisions of Section 8 below. 

Seaion 3 .  Distributions. At the time of each Distribution, such Disnibution shall 
be made to &e holders of cbss A Preferred aad Common Stock in the foEollowhg priority: 

3A. Disuibution o f  Unpaid Yield. The holders of Class A Preferred shall be 
entitled to receive all or a portion of such Didbution (ratably among such holders based upon the 
aggegate Unpaid Yield o f  the Shares of Class A Prefwred held by each such holder as of the rime 
of such Disrributcon) equal to the aggregare Unpaid Yield on the outstanding shares of Class A 
Preferred 2s of the time of such Disrribution, and no Disaiburian or any ponion thereof shall be 
made under paragraphs ;B or 3C below until  the enrire amounr of the Unpaid Yield on rhe 
oursmding Shares of Class A Prefened of thc time of such Distribution has been paid in h1I. 
The Dismbuuons made pursuant to his paragraph3A to holdas of Class.4 Preferred shall 

cosriture a paynem of Yield an rhe Class h Preferred. 
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. 3B. I Disaiburion of Unreturned Ori@nd Cosr. a r  the required amount of a 
Disrribution has been made in fuu pursuant LO pampph 3A above, the holders of Ckss A Preferred 
shail be entitled to receive dl or a ponioa of such Disaibution (ratably among such holders based 
upon the aggregate Unretumed Original Cost of the Shares o f  Class A Preferred held by each such 
holder a of the time of such Distribution) equal to the aggregatc Unrenvned Original Cost of &e 
out-djng shares of Class A Preferred as of the rime of such Distribution, and no Distribution or 
my podon hereof shall be made undn paragraph 3 2  below rnd h e  entire amount of &e 
UnreWed Original Cost of che outstanding Shares of Class A Preferred as of the time of such 
Distribution has been paid in full. The Distributions made pursuant to rhis paragraph 33 io holders 
of Class A Prefmed shdl constitute a r e m  of Original Cosr of the class A Preferred. 

3C. Remaining Disuibutions. After the rcquircd amount of a Distriburion has 
been made pursusnr to paragraphs and ji3 above, the holders of CbSs A Prefened anhlConmon 
Stock 8 a goup, shall be entitled to receive the remaining portion of such Distribution (ratably 
among such holders based u p  the aggregate number of shares of Class A Prefened and Common 
stock held by each such holder as of the time of such Disuibuuon). 

Section 4 .  Rcdcmations at the Oprion of the Holders of Class A Preferred. 

4p.. Redemprion Wirh Proceeds of Public Offeibgs. 

(i) Upon the requesr of  any holder o f  Class A Preferred delivered at leasr 
30 days prior to the expected consummadon of any Public Offering as set forth in the notice 
delivered by the Corporarion put sum^ to subparagraph 4A(iii) below, the Corporation shall apply 
[he net cash proceeds h m  atiy Public Offering remaining after deduction of all discounts, 
wde&rers' commissions and other reasonable expenses to redeem the Shares of Class A Prefened 
requested to bc redeemed by such holder at 9 price per Share determined pursuanr to paragraph 4C 
below; provided rhar the Corporarion shal not be required to redeem apy Class A Preferred pursuanz 
to rhis subparagraph 4A(i) in the event the Corporation receives a Conversion Notice (as defined 
below) prior to the consummation of such Public Offering from the holders of a majority of &e 
ourstanding Class -4 Prefened pursuanz 10 subparagraph SA(ii) below. 

(ii) Upon the requesr of the holders of a rnajoriw of the outstanding, 
Class A Prefemd delivered at least 15 days prior to the txpecred c o n s m a t i o n  of any Public 
offering as set fonh in the noxice delivered by the Corporauon pursuant to subparagraph 4A(G) 
below, rhe Corporation shall apply the net cash proceeds from any Public Offeting remaining after 
deduction of all discounts, uncknmks' commissions and O+CT reasonable expenses to redeem dl 
ourslanding Shares of Class A Preferred at a pnce per Share derennincd pursuant to paragraph 4C 
below. - 

(iii) The Corporation shail send written notice of  my proposed Public 
Offering and the expecred date of rbe consummation of such Public Offking by repurable overnight 
courier service (charges prepaid) to each record holder of Class A Prefe'entd not less thaq 60 days 
ptior to the Corpomdon's expected dare of the consummstion of such Public Offering. The 



' Corporation shall provide Written notice o f  any redemption of Sham of Class A Preferred pursuant 
to pmgraph 4A 10 all holders bf Class A Preferred within 3 days after the receipt of any redemption 
notice delivered 'pUrSUant to this paramph 4A. Any redemption pursuant to this paragraph 4A shall 
r&e p b e  on a date fixed by rhe Corporation, which date shall nor be more than b e e  days afrer the 
Corporation's receipt of the proceeds of any Public Offering. Excqpr as to the Shares so redeemed, 
redemptions of Shares pursuant to this paragraph4A shall not relieve the Corporation of its 
obligation to redeem Shares pursuant 10 pmgraph 4B below. 

4B. Optional Redemptions by Holders. At any rime and from time to ciare after 
December 5 I ,  2003, the holders of  a majority bf the outstanding Class A P r e f w d  may request 
redemption of all or any pomon of their Shares of Class A Preferred by delivering Qnrren notice of. 
such rcquen 10 the Coporation. Wid6n five days &r receip o f  .such request. the Corporation sh+l 
5) oive notice of such request to dJ other holders of Class A Preferred, and such other biders 
may requa; redexnpiii."' i-jf at alp pminn of &sir Shares of Class A Preferred by d ~ l i v t ~ n s '  
vqinen notice to the Corporation wizhin ten days after receipt of &e Corporation's notice. The 
CorporaTion shall be required to redeem a12 Shares w-th'rrspect to whicb such redemption requests 
have been made at ii price per Share determined pksuanr to par-ph 4C below 60 days after 
receipt of rhe initial redemprion request herefor. Except as to the Shares so redeemed, redemptions 
pu~uanr to this paragraph SB shall not relieve the Corporation of iw obligarion 10 redeem Shares 
pursuant to paragraph 4A above. 

4C. Redemption Payments. For tach Share whkh is IO be redeemed hereunder, 
h e  Conoration shall be obligared on the Redemption Date to pay to the  holder hereof (upon 
surrender by such holder at the Corporatian's principal office of the cenificart representbs such 
S-) an amoun~ in immediately available finds equal to the Uwenrrned O n g d  Cos plus Unpaid 
Yield with respect to such Share. Notwithstanding anything herein 10 rbe contrary, if the funds of 
h e  Corporauon (i) ItgaHy available pursuant to the General Corporation Law of California for &e 
redemption of Shares on any Redempu'on Dare or (ii) permitted to be used for the redemption of 
Shares pusuvlr LO any debt financing zgreement of the Corporauon on any Redemption Dare are 
in either case insufficienr to redeem the total number of Shares to be redeemed on such date, &os$ 
funds which are available pursuant to the California General Corporaion taw and permiteed to be 
used pursuant 10 any such debt financing ageemenr o f  the Corporation shall be used 10 redeem &e 
maximum possible number of Shares pro rara among rhe holders of the Shares to be redeemed based 
upon h e  aggregate Unreturned Original Cost plus Unpaid Yieid of rhe Shares held by each such 
holder. AI any time rhereafrtr when additional funds of the Corporation are avaiiable pursuant to 
the foregoing sentence for rhe redemprion of Shares, such funds shall immediately be used to &em 

balance ofthe Shares which the Corporation has become obligated to redeem on any Redemption 
Dare but which it has not redeemed. 

413. Partid wempiions. In case fewer than the to14 bumber of Shares represent- 
ed by m y  ceniiicate redeemed, a new certificate representing the number of umedeerned S h e s  
shall be issued ro [he holder hereof without cost'to such holder within three business days after 
surrender of rhe ccnificare representing the redeemed Shares. 



4E. Dividends After Redemption Date. No Shatc shall be enlitled to any 
dividends w m i n g  after the date on which die amount determined pursuant u) paragraph 4C above 
is paid to the holder o f  such Share. On such date, all rights of the holder of such S h m  shall cease, 
and such Share shall DO 1ongn be detmpd to be issued and outstanding. 

4F. Redccmcd or Othetwise Acquired Shares. .4ny Shares which are redeemed 
of otherwise acquired by the Corporation sM1 be canceled and rerired aad shall nut be reissued, sold 
or rransfcrred. 

4G. Other Redemptions or Acquisitions. The Corporation shall bot, por shall it 
emjl my Subsidiary to, redeem or othwwise acquk any S k c s  of Class A Preferred, except as P 

exprtssly auhorized herein or 'except pwsuanr 10 a purchase oRer made pro-rua to aU holders of 
class A Prefked on the basis of &e number of Shares owned by each such holder. 

I1 
Section 5 .  Convesian at fhe Option of rhe Holders of Clas  A Preferred! 

SA. Conversion Obligalions- 

(i) In comection wih rhe consummation of a Public Offering, any holder 
of Class A Preferred may cause all Shares of Class X Preferred held by such holder to be convened 
to Conversion Stock upon the consummarion of such Public Offdng by delivering written notice 
lo &e Corporation (a "Conversion Notice") ai least 30 days prior to the expected consummatjon of 
such Public Offerhg as sel forth in the notice delivered by rhe Corporation pursuant to subparagxaph 
4 ~ ( i i i )  &ow; provided that the COrpOIatiOh shall not be required 10 canvea any C!ass A Preferred 
pusua.nr Io this subparagraph 5A(i) in the event the Corporation receives a redemption notice fiom 
[he holders of a majority of the oursranding Class A Prcfened pursuant to subparagraph 4A(ii) 
above- 

(ii) In connection with the consummation of 'a Public Offering, the holders 
ofa majorizy of &e outsranding Shares of Class Ei Preferred may cause all outstanding Shares of 
Clss  A Preferred to be convened to Conversion Stock upon rhe consummation of such Public 
Off&g by delivelhz w h t t n  nonce to The Corporalion (also a "conversion Notice") at least 15 days 
prior to the expected consummarion of such Public Offerbg as set forth in the notice defivered by 
&e Corporarian pwsuant to subparagraph 4A(iii) above. 

The Corporation shall provide wrimn notice of the Conversion of any 
Shares of Class A Preferred to all holders of Cl&s A Prefmed at leas five days prior to such 
conversion. 

(iii) 

5B. Conversion Procedure. 

(i) Upon delivery of a Conversion Yotice. each S h e  of ClassA 
Preferred (including any fraction of a Share) to ~ ~ h i c h  such conversion notice relates sM1 conven 
inlo 8 number of shares of Conversion Stock computed by dividing the Unrerumed Original Cos? 



plus Unpaid Yield with respect to such Sharc by the price per share of Conversion Stock to the 
public in such Public Offering (the "O-ffenp~.PTice"). 

Each conversion of Class -4 Preferred SUI be deemed to have been 
effected upon the consummation of such Public Offering. At such h e ,  h e  rights ofthe holder of 
such Class A Preferred as a holder of Class A Preferred shall cease and the Person or Persons in 
whose name or names any certificate or cenificares for shares of Conymioh Stock are ro bc issued 
upon such conversion shall be deemed to have become rhe holder or h d d m  of record of &e shares 
of COnvefijOn Srock represented thereby. 

(ii) 

(iii) As soon as possible after a conversjon has been effected (but h any 
event within five ( 5 )  business days aRtr such conversion), h e  Corporation .shall deliver to the 
convening holder, upon surrender to the Corporarion a1 its principal ofice by h e  convening holder 
of its cerrificate for ihe convened Class A P s e f ~ e d .  ?I cenificate nr ~ e ~ i f i w r e s  rqresentmg the 
nmbes of shares of Conversion Stock issuable by reason of such conversion in the name or names 
md in such denominations as such convening holder has specified. 

(iv) The issuance of certificates for sbares.of Conversion Stock upon 
conversjDn of Class A Preferred shall be made without charge 10 ?he holders of such Class X 
Preferred for any issuancc tax in respect thereof or orher cost incurred by the Corporation in 
comcction wirh such conversion and &e related issuance of shares of Conversion Stock. Upon 
conversion of each Share of Class A Preferred. the Corporation shall take all such acrions as are 
necessary in order to insure that the Conversion Stock issmble wirh respect to scch conversion shall 
be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and free and clear of ai1 liens, charges and 
encumbrances. 

(v) The Corporation'shall not close its books against the transfer of 
class -4 Preferred or of Conversion Stock issued or issuable upon conversion of Class A Preferred 
in my man;ler which inrderes  with the umely conversion bf suck S h e s .  

(vi) If any fiacrional interest in a share of Conversion Srock would cxcepr 
for &e provisions of this subparagraph %(vi), be deliverable upon any conversion ofthe Class A 
Preferred, the Corporation, in lieu of delivering the fiawional share therefor, may elect to pay an 
mounf  10 rhe holder thereof equal ro the Offering Price of such fractional intetesr as o f  the dale of 
conversion. 

(vii) The.Corporauon shall take all such actions as may be necessary to 
assure thar ail such shares of Conversion Stock may bc so issued wirhout violation of any applicable 
law or $ovenmental regularion or any requirements of any domestic securirirs wchange upon which 
shuts of Conversion Stock may be listed ( w e p t  for official notice of issuance which shall be 
,mediare ly  delivered by rhe Corporation upon each such issuance). 

(viii) In connecrion with any conversion pursuant 10 this Section 5, the 
Corporzrion shall t&e a13 accions necessary to make available out of its authorized but unissued 
s . ~ e s  0fConve:sion Stock, solely for the purpose of issuance upoa the conversion of the Class h 



Prefmd, such number of shares of Conversion Stock issuabIe upon the conversion of dl 
outsfanding Class A Preferred 

Secrion 6. Voting Riahts, Except as orherwise providcd by applicable law, the 
Class A Prefmed shall have no voting rights. Notwithstanding ?he foregoing, each holder of 
Class A Prcfcrrcd shall be entitled to notice of all shareholders meetings at the same rime and in &e 
Same manner as notice is given to all sharehoiders entided to vote at such meetings- The holders of 
the Common Stock shall be entitled to norice of dl shareholders mctsings in accordance with the 
Corporation's bylaws, and h e  holders of the Common Stock shall be entitled to one vote per 
on all matters submined ro the shareholders of the Corporarion for a Yore- I '  

Section 7. Events ofponcornpliance. 

(i) the Corporation fails M make any redcmpricn payment with respect 
10 he Class A Preferred which it is required 10 make hereunder (after giving effecr to the second 
sqrmce of paragraph 4C hereof); 

(ii) the Corporation or any matend Subsidiary makes an assignment fOT 
he beaefif of creditors or admirs in irs inability to pay its debts generally as they become 
due; or rn order, judgmenr or decree is entered adjudicaung b e  Corporation or any material 
Subsidiary bankrupr or insolvent; or any order for relief with respect to the Carporation a1 any 
material Subsidiary is entered under he Federal.Bankruptcy Code; or h e  Corporation or any 
material Subsidiary peritjons or applies 10 any uibunal for the appointmenr of a cwodian, mstee, 
receiver or liquidator of  the Corporation or any marerial Subsidiary or of any substantial pan of the 
=seis of the Corpoatlon or any marenal Subsidiary, or commences any proceeding (other than a 
proceeding for the volunrw liquidation 2nd dissolution of a merial Subsidiary) relating 10 rhe 
Corporation or any Subsidiary under any bankruptcy, reorganization, arranyxnm. insolvency, 
readjusunenr of debt, dissolution or liquidation law of any jurisdiction; or any such perition or 
application is filed, or any such proczeding is comenccd, ngainsr he CorporaTion or any ma~c+d 
Subsidiaxy and either (a) the Corporazion or any such material Subsidiarj by any act indicates i s  
approval thereof, consent hereto or acquiescence therein or (b) such pewtioh npplicarion or 
proceeding is not dismissed within 60 days; or 

(iii) the Corporation OT any Subsidiary defaults in the pedorrnance of any 
obligation or ageement or there shalI othenuise occu an event o f  default under any agreement to 
which the Corporalion or any Subsidiary is a parry if the effecr of such defkult or event of default 
3s to cause an amount exceeding %500,000 to become due prior to its Srared maturity. 

7E. Consequcnccs of Events of Noncompliance. 

(i) If an Event of Noncompliance has occurred (orher than an Evcnt of 
?Joncompiience of the type described in subparagraph 7A(i1)), t he  holder or hdders of a msjority 
of b e  Class A Preferred then outsranding my demand (by G t w n  norice OeJivered to ;he 



Corpomtion) immediate redemption of ail or any p~rtion of the Class .A.Preferred owned by such 
b l &  ot holders at a pncc per Share e q d  to $le Unrenuned O n g M  Cost p h  Unpaid Yield with 
res- to such Share. The Corporadon shall give prompt writtm notice of such election to the oaer 
holders of Class A Preferred (but h any event within five days after re&pt of the bh ia l  demand for 
re&mpuon from the holder or holders of a majoriry of the Class A Preferred then outstandt\g), and 
each such other holder may demand immtdiate redemption of all or any portion of such bolder's 
Class A Pre€med by giving written notice thereof ro the Carpomtion within seven days after receipt 
of * C  (bpxation's notice. The Corporation shall redeem all Class A Prefmed as zo which rights 
d a  &js,paragraph 7B have been exercised within 30 days afier receipr of the initid demand for 
redemption from rhe holder or holders of a majority of h e  Class A Preferred then oursranding. 

(ii) If an Event of Noncompliance of the kype desGribed in 
subpatagraph 7A(ii) has occurred. dI of rhe Class A Prefened then oursrandhg shall be subject 10 
immediate redemption by C q z & c  fwi&ca any sicdon on the pan of  the holden of the Class 
A Preferred) ar a price per Share equal to the mount which the' holders of Class A Preferred are 
entilled ro be paid 4i .h rtspecK ro each Share pursuant to Section j above. The Corporation shall 
immediately redeem di Clars A Preferred upon the occurrence o f  such Event of ?foncomplimce. 

(ii9 If any Event of F'oncomplia?ce exisu, cacb holder of Class A Pre- 
f e n d  shall also have any orher righrs which such holder i s  entitled to under any cmuact or 
agccmat at any time and any other rights which such holder may have p u r ~ ~ a n r  IO applicable law. 

Section 8. Stock Splits and Stock Dividends. The Corporarion shall ~ O K  in any 
manner subdivide (by srock split, stock dividend or otherwise) or combine (by stock split, stock 
dividend or orhewise) the outsranding shares of Class A Preferred or Common Stock, as the case 
may be, unless the ourstanding shares of the other class shall be pmportioGtely subdivided or 
combined. ~ l l  such subdivisions and combinations shall be payable only in Class h Preferzed TO the 
holders of Class A Preferred a d  in Common Stock 20 rfit holders of  Common Stock. In'no even1 
shall a stock spfir or stock dividend consriture a paymem of Yield or a return of Original Cost. 

Section 9. Rqjstration of Transfer. The Corporation shall keep a1 its principal 
office a regisrer for rhc registration of Class A Preferred. Upon the surrender of any certificate 
representing Class A Prefened at such place. the Corporation shall. at the request of the record 
holder of such cenificare, execute and deliver (ar rhe Corporation's expense) a new certificate or 
cenificares in exchange therefor represenung in the aggregate the nmber  of S h e s  represented by 
the surrendered cerfificare. Each guch new certificate shall be regisrered in such name and shall 
represent such number of Shares as is requested by the holder of the surrendered &ificate and shaIl 
be subsrantidly idtnrical in form 10 the surrendered cenificate, and dividends shall z r c c ~ c  on the 
Class A Preferred represented by such new certificate fiom the date 10 which dividends have been 
fully paid on such CIass -4 Preferred represented by the surrendered CenifiCatC. ' 

Seclion 10. Replacernenr. Upon receipt of evidence reasonably satisfacrory IO the 
Corporation (an affidavit of rhe resist-d holder shall be sarisfacrory) of the ownership and the ioss, 
chtfc, desuucfion of mutilation o f  any certificate evidencing Shares of Class A Preferred, and in the 
cast of any such loss, their or deswcuon, upon reccipr of indenmiry reasonably satisfactory to the 

8 
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Corporation or, in the case of any such mutilation upon surrender of sLlch certificare, rhe Corporadon 
shall (at i ts expense) execuk and deliver in lieu of such cerrificare a new certificaca of like k i d  
represenring the number o f  S h e s  of such class represented by such loss stolen, desnoyed or 
mutilated certificate and dated the date of such lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated certificate, and 
dividends shall accrue an the class -4 Preferred represented by such new certificate from &e dare 
to which dividends have been Wly paid on such lost, stolen. desnoyed or mutilated certificate. 

Sec?jon 11. Definitions. 

“Compon Stock” means rhe Corporation’s Common Stock and any other capital 
srock of any class of the Corporation bereafter aurhorized which i s  nor limited to a fixed sum or 
pexenragc of par or sated value in respect to the rishts of the holdm thereof 50 panicipare in 
dividends or in the disuibution of assets upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the 

I CorporazlOn. 1 

# 

.“Conversion Stock” means shares of the Common Srock; provided hr if there is a .  
change such rhar she securities issuable upon coovckion of the Class A Prefwed are issued by an 
endv orher r h a a  the Corporation or there is a change in the class of securities SO issuable, rhen &e 
term “Conversion Stock” shall mean s h i m s  of the securiry issuable upon conversion of h e  Class A 
Prefened if such securisy is issuabk in shares, or shall mean rhe units in which such security is 
issuable if such securiiy i s  not issuable in shares. 

“Disuibution“ means each aism’buuon made by ‘the Corporarion to holders of 
Class A Preferred or Common Stock, whether in casfi, propmy, or securities of the Corporauon and 
w k ~ e r  by dividend. Iiquidating dismbutions or otherwise; provided that RDRC of rhr following shall 
be a Distribution: (a) any redemption or repurchase by the Corporation of Up Class A Preferred 
pursuant 10 Section 4 above. (b) any conversion of any Class A Preferred pursuant to Secrion 5 
above, (cj- any redemption or repurchase of Class A Prefened or Common Stock pursuant to any 
right of first refisd. frrsr offer or s k r d a r  n ~ h r  in favor of  Khe Corporation approved by t!!e 
Corporation’s Board o f  Directors SO long as DO Event of Noncompliance i s  in existence immediately 
prior i o  or is orherwise mused by any such repurchase, Id) repurchases of Common Stock from 
presal or former employees or consdtants of the Cqorarion and its Subsidiaries upon termination 
of employment or comltancy in accordance With armngemenrs approved by zhe Cosporarion’s board 
of directors and so long as no Evenr of Noncompliance i s  in existence immediacely prior IO or is 
otherwise caused by any such repurchase or (e) any recapitalization or exchange of any Clzss .4 
prefened or Common Stock in compliance With the provisions of Secuon 8 above or any subdivision 
(by srock spljr, stock dividend or otherwise) or any combination (by srock split. stock dividend or 
otherxist) of any outstanding Class .A Prefemd or Common Stock in compliance wirh the 
provisions of Secrion 8 above. ’ 

‘ ‘ I h o r  Securities” m e w  any capital srock or orhcs equity securities of ihe 
Corporation, rxcrpr for the Class A Preferred. 



"Original Cost" of each share of Class A Preferred shall be equal to $j60:00 per 
shme (as proportjonally adjusted for dl stock splits, stock dividends and other recapidbTicms 
affecting the Class A Preferred). 

"Puson" - means an individual, a parulership, a corporation, a limited liabiliry 
company, associarion, a joinr stock company, a UUS& a joint venture, an unincorporated 
organiauon md a govemmensal entity or any deparrment. agency or pofiUcd subdivision rhereof. 

"Public ORerin$' means my offering by the Corporation of its equity or debt 
secdties or any rights to acquire any of its equity or debt securiries to the public pursuant to an 
eflecdve regimauon starerncnt under the Securities Act of 1953, a~ thcn in effect, or any comparable 
statement under any similar federal. stature then in force. 

"Rcbemprion Datf' as 10 any Share m m f  5: &te specified In ?be r?r?dre of any 
r&emptim at Zhe Corporation's option or the applicabie daw specified herein with respect to any 
other sdempdan; provided that no such dale shall be a Redemption Dare unless the Unretumcd 
Originai Cos plus Unpaid Yield with respect to such Share is a c d l y  paid in full on such date, and 
if not so paid in full, the Redemption Date shall be rbe dare on which such arnounr is Wly paid. 

"Subsidiiuy" means, With respect 10 any Person, any corporation, limited liabiliry 
company, parmeship, association or other business entity of which (i) if a corpomrion, a majority 
of the t o d  voting power o f  shares of s~ock entitled (Wichoux regard to the occurrence of any 
conrbngency) to vow in rhe ekcrion o f  directors, managers or w t e e $  thereof is ax &e time owned 

a or conuolled. directly or indirectly, by that Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of rhai 
Person or a combination thereof, OY (ii) if a Iimited liability company, pannership, association 01 
other business enuty, a majority of the pannership or 0the.r similar ownership interest hereof is at 
h e  rime owned or controlled, directly or indirectly: by that Person or one or more Subsidiaries of 
that Person O i  a cornbinarian [hereof. For purposes hereof, a Person or Persons shall be deemed to 
have a majoriry ownership interest in a limited liabiliry company, pannership. association or orher, 
business entity if such Person or Persons shall be ailocaed a majority of limited liability compmy, 
pmership, associarim or orher business entity gains or losses or shall be or conuol the managing 
general panner of such limired liabiliry company, pmership, associarion or other business entity. 

"Wholly-Owned Subsidiary" means. with respecr co any Person. a Subsidiary of 
whjcfi'di ofthe issued and outstanding capital stack 01 other ownership interests are owned by such 
Person or anozhm Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of such Person. Y 

"Unpaid Yield" of any Share of Class A Preferred means an amount equal IO rhe 
excess, if any, of (a) the aggregate Yield accrued on such Share, over (b) the aggregare amount of 
Qistributjons made by the Corporation that conzziitute payment of Yieid on such Share. 

"Unrexumed Original - Coq" of any Share of Class A Prefened means an amout  
equal to rhe excess, if any, of (a) the Original Cost of ouch Share. over (b) the aggregate amount of 
Disnibuuons made by the Corporation that consrirute a retum of Original Cost of such Share. 



"Yield" -c- means, with respect to each Share of Class h Preferred for each calendar 
q w r ,  the amount accruing on such Share each day during SU& quarter ar the m e  of 10% per 

ofthe s u m  of(a) such share's Unrenrrned Original Cost, pius (b) Unpaid Yield thereon for 
dl prior quanes. In calculating rhe unomt of any Distribution to be made duing a calendar 
q-s, the portion of a Class A Preferred share's Yield for such portion of such quarter elapsing 
before such Distribution is made shall be taken into acccom~. 

Section 12. Amendment and Waiver. No amendment, modifiearion or waiver shall 
be binding or effective wirh respect to any provision.of SfXtiOns I ro 11 of this Subdivision B 
without the prior ulitten consent of the holders of 8S?4 of rbc .Class A Preferred outsranding at the 
h e  suchaction is  taken; provided that no chanse in rhe t e r m  hereof may be accomplished by 
mergw or consolidauoa of the Corporation 4th anorher corporation or enriv unless rhe Corporation 
h a  &rained The pnor written consent of the holden of 85% of the class A Preferred then 
muranding. 

I '  

I '  

Secuon 15. Notices. All notices, demands or orher cornnunications to be gjven or 
delivered hereunder shall be in w h h g  and shall be deemed 10 have been given when deiivered 
personally to the recipient or orre (1) business day afier being sent to rhe recipient by repuzable 
overnight courier service (chatges prepaid) or five ( 5 )  business days after being mailed IO h e  
recipient by terrified or registered mail. return receipr requested and postage prepaid. Such notices, 
demands and other commdcarions shall be sen1 (i) to rhe Corporation, aE its principaI executive 
offices and (ii) to m y  stockholder, ar such holdefs address as it appears in h~ srack records of the 
Corporation (unless o~hhe-rwise indicated by any such holder). 

ARllCLE IV 

Section 1. Elimination of Direcror Liability. The liability of directors of &e 
Corporaxion for monetary damages shall be eliminated to rhe fullesr extent permissible under 
California law. 

Section 2. Tndernnification. The ' Corporation is authorized KO provide 
indemnification of agents (as defied in Section 3 17 of the Caljfomia Corporations Code) through - 
Bylaw provisions, agreements with agenis, vote o f  shareholders or disinterested directors, 6 5  

otherwise. IO rhe Wlesr exIent permissible under California Izw, 

Section 2 .  gffecr of Amendmenr. Any ammdmenr repeal or modificauon of any 
prOviSiOn of this Article IV shall not adverseiy S e c t  any right or protection of an apenr of this 
Corporation existing ar rhe rime of such amendment, repeal or modification. 



CERTIFICATE OF APPROV4L OF AGREEMENT OF MERGER 

john K. La Rue .md Roger L. westphal state and certify that: 

1. 
California corporation. 

They are the President and Secretay, respectively, of Pac-West Telecomm, Inc,, a 

2. 
of Directors and shareholders of the corporauon, 

n e  Agreement of Merger in the form attached was duly approved by the Board 

j. 
10,000. 

4. 
the outsranding shares of the corporation. 

j- 
Exhibit A to the Agreement of Merger. 

Thcrt is o d y  one class of shares and the lord number of outstanding shares is 

The skareho!der approval was by the holders of one hundred percent (100%) of 

The shareholders have approved the Amended znd Resrated M c l c s  anached as 

On rhe date set forth below, in the City of Sa Francisco in the State of California, 
each of the undersigned does hereby declare under h e  penalty of pejury under The laws 
of &e State of Czdifornia that he signed the foregoing cenificatt in the oficid capacity 
set forrh beneath his signature, and that the statemenrs-set forth in said certificate are me 
of his own knowledge. 

Signed on September 16, 1998. 

, 

. . . . . .  .-..: ;., _ , .  . . .  
._.r____. .-. .. . . . . . . . . . . . .  ~ . . . . . . .  .. -. .... - .. .*.?.I H.. , 

. .". . , A .  . ..- . . .  



EXHIBIT 2 

Certificate of Authority to Transact Business 



FILE No.607 08/29 '05 06:43 1D:PAC WEST FAX : PAGE 1 
,850-205-0381 8/11/2005 8:36 PAGE 001/002 Florida Dept O f  State 

I certxfy t h e  actached 16 a t r u e  and correct copy ~5 :'ne appl ic?*  *an 5 ~ 7  

PAC-WESP TELECOMM, I N C . ,  a CalLfornia eorpora t lon ,  authorized t o  transact 
business wrthin t h e  S t a t e  of Flor ida on Augu6t 10, 2 0 0 5  as Shawn by t h e  
records of this office. 

I further certify t h e  document was electronically received under FAX a u d i t  
number H05000191784. Thla c e r t i f i c a t e  is Issued i n  accordance with s e c t i o n  
15 .16 ,  Flor ida  Statutes, and au then t i ca t ed  by the code noted below. 

The document number of t h i s  corporation is F05000004643. 

Authsntlcation Code: 405A00051478-081105-F05~0~0046a3-1/1 

Given under my h a n d  and the 
Great Seal of the State of Florida,  
a t  Tallahassee, t h e  Cap l t a l ,  thls t h e  
Eleventh day of August, 2 0 0 5  

G b b a  @nub 
$&J;rbarg o f s t a t e  - 



CORPORATION SERVICE COMPANY 
wra.incsp2.t m 

Matter# Not Provided 
Project Id : 
Additional Reference : 

Entity Name : 

Jurisdiction : 

Request for : 
File# : 
File date : 

Fbsult : 

CSC- Wilmington 
Suite 400 
271 1 Centerville Road 
Wilmington, DE 19808 
800-927-9800 
302-636-5454 (Fax) 

Order# 5 18719-25 
Order Date 08/02/2005 

PAC-WEST TELECOMM, INC. 

FLSecretary of State 

Qualification Filing 
F05000004643 
08/10/2iX 

Filed 

Ordered by MS. NANCY GRIFFIN at PAC-WEST TELECOMM, INC. 

Thank you for using CSC. For real-time 24 hour access to the status of any order placed with CSC, access our website at 
www. incspot . corn. 

if you have any questions concerning this order or IncSpot, please feel free to contact us. 



EXHIBIT 3 

Managerial and Technical Qualifications 



PAC-WEST TELECOMM, INC. 
MANAGEMENT BIOGRAPHIES 

Hank Carabelli 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
Mr. Carabelli joined Pac-West as President and COO in June of 2001. He joined the company's 
Board of Directors in January of 2003. In July of 2003, he was appointed Chief Executive 
Officer with overall responsibility for the operations of the company. Formerly the CPO of 
ICG, a Colorado-based CLEC, and President of @Link Networks, a broadband service provider, 
Mr. Carabelli brings over 28 years of telecom experience to Pac-West. He joined ICG in 1996 as 
Executive Vice President of network operations, and served as COO from 1998 to 1999 with 
responsibility over network engineering, customer care, sales, and installation. Prior to ICG, Mr. 
C z ~ S e i l i  spent 19 years ir: XZTZ~:LXZ; -~%h Ameritech and Michigan Bell. Mr. Carabelli 
serves on the Board of Directors for the San Joaquin Business Council, and the University of San 
Francisco Telecommunications Advisory Board. 

H. Ravi Brar 
Chief Financial Officer and Vice President Human Resources 
Mr. Brar joined Pac-West in July 1999 as Vice President of Business Development. He was 
appointed Vice President of Customer Operations in October of 2000, Vice President of Finance 
and Treasurer in August of 2001, Acting Chief Financial Officer in February of 2002, and Chief 
Financial Officer in September of 2002 and Vice President of Human Resources in 2004. Mr. 
B r a  has responsibility for the Company's financial and accounting operations, evaluating 
strategic growth opportunities, and human resources. Prior to joining Pac-West, Mr. Brar was 
employed with Xerox Corporation from 1991 to 1999, where he held several senior level 
business development and financial management positions, including Business Development 
Manager of Developing Markets Operations in China and Russia, and Area General Manager 
and Controller of Xerox's Business Services division in Pittsburgh, PA. 

Todd M. Putnam 
Chief Information Officer 
Mr. Putnam joined Pac-West in October of 2003 as Chief Information Officer. Mr. Putnam has 
responsibility over the Company's information systems including its Information Technology 
strategic plan and infrastructure, including operating support systems, software development, 
database administration, security, system integration, internal and external web sites, and 
supplier partnerships. Prior to joining Pac-West, he completed a consulting assignment with 
TechNexxus, LLC (a subsidiary of Mintz Levin Cohn Ferris Glovsky and Popeo PC) in 
Washington D.C. From 1989 to 2002, he was employed with Global Crossing LTD (Frontier 
Communications, ConferTech International, and TI Systems), where he was responsible for 
building, operating, and maintaining the global information systems infrastructure for the entire 
company. He held a variety of senior level IT positions, including Vice President of Global IS 
Operations, Vice President of North American Systems and Infrastructure, Vice President of 
Systems Development, and CIO of the ConferTech division. 
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Michael B. Hawn 
Vice President Customer Network Services 
Mr. Hawn joined Pac-West as Vice President of Customer Network Services in August 2001. 
He has end-to-end responsibility over service delivery, maintenance, planning, engineering, 
billing operations and reliability. He has over 18 years of telecommunications management 
experience, including network planning, engineering, service delivery, provisioning, and 
software development. His former positions include Vice President of National Operations and 
Vice President of Program Management for @Link Networks, Inc. in Louisville, COY Vice 
President of Planning and Engineering for ICG Communications, Inc. in Englewood, CO, and 
Technical Manager for Lucent Technologies' Regional Technical Assistance Center (RTAC) in 
Lisle, IL and Cockeysville, MD. 

Eric Jacobs 
Vice President, General Manager 
Service rroviaer Sales 
Mr. Jacobs joined Pac-West in March of 2003 and was promoted to Vice President, General 
Manager of Service Provider Markets in December 2003. He has over ten years of sales 
management experience in the communications industry. Prior to joining Pac-West, he held 
positions as Director of Sales for Metromedia Fiber Network and Manager of Corporate 
Accounts for Nextel Communications, Inc. Mr. Jacobs has leadership over the company's sales, 
channel marketing and customer relations teams. 

John F. Sumpter 
Vice President Regulatory 
Mr. Sumpter joined Pac-West as Vice President of Regulatory in July of 1999. He is responsible 
for Pac-West's relations with government regulatory agencies, regulatory compliance, and 
intercarrier relations. Mr. Sumpter has over 30 years of experience in the telecommunications 
industry. Prior to Pac-West, he was employed with AT&T from 1984-1 999, where he held 
several executive level regulatory and marketing positions, including Division Manager of Law 
and Government Affairs, District Manager of Switched Services Product Management, and 
District Manager of Marketing. He currently serves as Chairman of the Board of CALTEL, the 
California Association of Competitive Telecommunications Companies and of CACE, the 
California Alliance for Consumer Education. 

Peggy McGaw 
Vice President of Finance 
Ms. McGaw joined Pac-West in June of 2002 as Executive Director of Accounting and Finance 
and was promoted to Vice President Finance in December of 2003. Ms. McGaw has 
responsibility over accounting, risk management, financial reporting and compliance, and tax 
and treasury activities. Prior to joining Pac-West she served as CFO of the Dial.com from 1999 
to 2002. Prior positions included in her 20 years of finance experience are Vice President of 
Finance and Acting CFO of Intracel Corporation and a Business Assurance Manager for 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP. Her extensive experience with technology-based companies 
includes numerous capital raising and M&A transactions. Ms. McGaw is a member of the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Financial Executives International and the 
Forum for Women Entrepreneurs. 
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Robert C. Morrison 
Vice President and General Counsel 
Mr. Morrison joined Pac-West as Vice President and General Counsel in January of 2003. He 
served on Pac-West's Board of Directors from 2001 through December 31,2002. He has served 
as OUT Corporate Secretary since February 2001. Mr. Morrison has responsibility over corporate 
governance, record keeping, documentation and legal administration of contractual relationships, 
and managing the Company's relationships with outside law firms. Prior to joining Pac-West, 
Mr. Morrison was an attorney with Neumiller and Beardslee, P.C. in Stockton, California from 
1972-2002. He served as Managing Director from 1983-1990. In July of 2002, he completed a 
te rn  on the Board of Regents of the University of California. He is a past president qf the 
Greater Stockton Chamber of Commerce, the San Joaquin County Economic Development 
Association, and the alumni association for UC Davis, and is a former member of the Board of 
Directors and Executive Committee of the Lassen Volcanic National Park Foundation. 
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EXHIBIT 4 

Financial Qualifications 

Pac-West possesses the financial qualifications required of applicants seeking 

CLEC certification in the State of Florida. Pac-West has access to the financing and 

capital necessary to conduct its telecommunications operations as specified in this 

Application. Pac-West seeks authority to provide facilities-based and local exchange and 

interexchange telecommunications services to customers from all points within the state 

of Florida. Attached hereto is Pac-West’s most recent C-K f inmc.k l  statement. This 

statement establishes that Pac-West has sufficient financial capability to provide resold 

competitive local exchange services and to maintain the provision of such services to the 

Florida public. The statements are offered solely to demonstrate Applicant’s financial 

capability to operate as a telecommunications service provider in the State of Florida. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

Board ofDirectors and Stockholders 

Pac-West Telecomrn, h c  
Stockton, California 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Pac-West Telecomm, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 3 I ,  
2004 and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockholders’ equity, and 
cash flows for the year then ended. We have also audited the 2004 Schedule I1 -Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (the Schedule). 
The financial statements and the Schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements and the Schedule based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and 
Schedule are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its 
internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the Schedii!e. 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statement and the Schedule. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Pac-West Telecornm, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 3 1,2004 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year 
then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Also in our opinion, the Schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. 

is/  BDO SEIDMAN, LLP 

San Francisco, California 

February 25, 2005, except for Note 18, which i s  dated as of March 11,2005 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 

Pac-West Telecomm, Inc. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Pac-West Telecomm, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 3 1, 
2003 and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockholders’ equity and cash 
flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 3 1, 2003. In connection with our audits of the consolidated 
financial statements, we have also audited the accompanying financial statement schedule for each of the years in the two-year period 
ended December 3 1,2003. These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the 
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial 
statement schedule based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boarb (United States), 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of matcrial misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. An audit als o includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. I 

, 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 

financial position of Pac-West Telecomm, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 3 1,2003, and the results of their operations and their 
cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31,2003, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related 2003 and 2002 information in the financial statement schedule, when 
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statemcnts taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the 
information set forth therein. 

Is/ KPMG LLP 

Mountain View, California 

February 13,2004 
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PAC-WEST TELECOMM, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

As of December 31,2004 and 2003 
(In thousands except share and per share data) 

2004 2003 

ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS: 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Short-term investments 
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowances of$366 and $1,560 as 
of December 3 I ,  2004 and 2003, respectively 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 
Deferred tax assets 

Total current assets 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net 
GOODWILL 
OTHER ASSETS, ne1 

$ 32.265 
10,501 

12,774 
5.316 
- 

60,856 
43,413 

119 
2,664 

$ 34,657 
- 

1.713 
4.576 
3,467 

50.413 
121,211 

2.578 
- 

Total assets $ 107,052 - 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

CURRENT LIABILITIES: 
Accounts payable $ 5,684 
Current obligations under notes payable and capital leases 2,889 
Accrued interest 2,208 
Other accrued liabilities 12,445 
Deferred revenues 846 

Total current liabilities 
SENIOR NOTES 
NOTES PAYABLE, less current portion 
CAPITAL LEASES, less current portion 
DEFERRED REVENUES, less current portion 
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 

24,072 
36.102 
28.285 

65 I 
353 
- 

$ 174,202 - 
$ 6,098 

2,606 
2,096 

I 1,696 
594 

23,090 
36,102 
18.42 I 

191 
467 

3,461 

Total liabilities 89,463 81.738 

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9) 
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY: 

Common stock. $0.001 par value: 
Authorized shares - 100,000,000 
Issued and outstanding shares - 36,792,426 and 36,590,532 at 
December 3 I ,  2004 and 2003, respectively 31  

Additional paid-in capital 204,540 
Deferred stock compensation (565) 
Accumulated deficit (186.309) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss ( I  14) 

37 
204,461 

(758) 
(1 11,276) 

- 

Total stockholders’ equity 17,589 92,464 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 107,052 - $ 174,202 - 
See notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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PAC-WEST TELECOMM, m’c. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 
For the Years Ended December 31,2004,2003 and 2002 

(In thousands except per share data) 

Years Ended December 31, 

REVENUES 
COSTS AND EXPENSES: 

Network expenses 
Selling, general and administrative 
Depreciation and amortization 
ReStNClUnIIg charges 
Impairment of assets 

Total operating expenses 

Loss from operations 

OTHER (INCOME) EXPENSE: 
Interest expense 
Interest income 
Loss (gain) on extinguishment of debt 
Loss on asset dispositions., net 

Total other (income) expense, net 

(LOSS) INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 
(BENEFIT FROM) PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 

Net (loss) income 

NET (LOSS) INCOME PER SHARE: 
Basic 
Diluted 

Basic 
Diluled 

WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING: 

COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME: 

Unrealized (loss) on investments 
Reclassification of realized gain on sale of investments 

Comprehensive (loss) income 

Net (loss) income 

2004 2003 2002 

$124,006 

39,834 
58.065 
32.565 

516 
54.898 

185,878 

(61.872) 

- 
- 

12,515 
(409) 

1,055 

13,161 

(75,033) 

- 

- 
- 

S (75,033) - 
S (2.05) 
$ (2.05) 

36,655 
36,655 

16 (75.033) 
(114) - 

16 (75,147) - 

$134,640 

36,286 
59,217 
44,000 

125 - 

139,628 

$164.098 

53,525 
6d.114 
40,350 
8,620 

1 6.62 I 

179,230 
- 

(1  5! 132) 

13,520 
(477) 
3,689 
30 

16,762 

(21,750) 
(6.500) 

S (15,250) 

- 

- 
f (0.42) 
$ (0.42) 

36,481 
36,481 

S ( I  5,250) 

156 
- 

S ( 15.094) - 

17.398 
( 1.605) 
(33.847) 

131 - 
(17,923) 

2.791 
745 

- 

$ 2,046 - 
S 0.06 
$ 0.06 

36.308 
36,334 

S 2,046 
( 103) - - 

$ 1,943 - 
See notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

F-5 



Jable of Conten& 

PAC-WEST TELECOMM, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

For the Years Ended December 31,2004,2003 and 2002 
(In t how an ds) 

Accumulated 
Other  

Comprehensive 
Income/ 
(Loss) 

Note 
Receivable 

from 
Shareholders 

$ (200) 
- 

Common Stock Additional 
Paid-ln 
Capital 

Accumulated 
(Deficit) 

$ (98,072) - 

Shares 

$183,550 
17 

101 
- 
- 
- 

Balance, December 3 I ,  2001 
Exercise of stock options 
Issuance of shares under Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan 
Unrealized loss on investments 
Amortization of deferred stock compensation 
Net income 

183,668 
68 

20,004 

38 

- 

- 
683 
- 
- 

Balance, December 31, 2002 
Exercise of stock options 
Note receivable from stockholder 
Warrants issued with Senior Secured Note 
Issuance ofshares under Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan 
Reclassification of realized gain on sale of 
investments 
Deferred stock compensation 
Amonization of deferred stock compensation 
Net loss 

(96.026) 
- 
- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

(IS.250) 

( I  1 1,276) 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

(75,033) 

36.591 
86 

I I S  - 
- 
- 
- - 

36,792 - 

204,461 
40 

I IO 
- 

8 
(79) - 

Balance, December 31,2003 
Exercise of stock options 
Issuance o f  shares under Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan 
Unrealized loss on investments 
Amortization of deferrcd stock compensation 
and other 
Deferred financing fees 
Net loss 

$204,540 - $ (1 86,309) Balance, December 3 1,2004 

[Additional columns below] 

[Continued from above table, first column(s) repeated] 

Deferred 
Stock 

Compensation 

Total 
Shareholders’ 

Equity 

$ 85,071 
17 

I O 1  
(103) 
104 

2.046 

Balance, December 3 I, 2001 
Exercise of stock options 
Issuance of shares under Employee Stock Purchase Plan 
Unrealized loss on investments 
Amortization of deferred stock compensation 
Net income 

87.236 
69 

200 
20.004 

38 
I56 
- 

Balance, December 3 I, 2002 
Exercise of stock options 
Note receivable from stockholder 
Warrants issued with Senior Secured Notr 
Issuance of shares under Employee Stock Purchase Plan 
Reclassification of realized gain on sale of investments 
Deferred stock compensation 
Amortization of deferred stock compensation 
Net loss 

92,464 Balance, December 3 I, 2003 



Exercise of stock options 
Issuance of shares under Employee Stock Purchase Plan 
Unrealized loss on investments 
Amortization of deferred stock compensation and other 
Deferred financing fees 
Net loss 

40 
1 IO 

201 
(1 14) 

(79) 
(75,033) 

Balance, December 3 I ,  2004 S (565) - $ 17,589 - 
See notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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PAC-WEST TELECOMM, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

For the Years Ended December 31,2004,2003 and 2002 
o n  thousands) 

Years Ended December 31, 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
Net (loss) income 
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by 
operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization 
Amortization of dcferred financing costs 
Amortization of discount on note payable 
Amortization of deferred stock compensation and other 
Impairment of w e t s  
Non-cash restructuring charges 
Net loss (gain) on extinguishment of debt 
Net loss on asset dispositions 
Provision for doubtful accounts 
Deferred income tax (benefit) provision 
Other 

(Increase) decrease in trade accounts receivable 
Decrease in income tax receivable 
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expcnses and other current assets 
Decrease in other assets 
(Decrease) in accounts payable 
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest 
(Decrease) increase in other accrued liabilities 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions: 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
Purchases of property and equipment 
(Purchases) redemptions of short-term investments, net 
Proceeds from disposal of equipment 
Costs of acquisitions, net of cash received 
Deposits associated with the enterprise customer base sale 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
payment on senior credit facility 
Procecds from repayment of note receivable from stockholder 
Proceeds from borrowing under note payable 
Repayments on Fiber IRU 
Repayments on notes payable 
Principal payments on capital leases 
Payments for deferred financing costs 
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock 

Net cash (used in) financing activities 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS: 

Beginning of year 

End of year 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW 
INFORMATION: 

Cash paid during the year for: 
Interest 
Income taxes 

Non-cash Operating and Financing Activities: 
Prepaid maintenance agreement financed by notes payable 
Capitalized interest on Senior Secured Note 

Equipment acquisitions financed by notes payable 
Equipment acquisitions on capital lease obligation 

Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities: 

2004 

$ (75.033) 

34,657 

$ 31.265 - 
$ 5,584 
$ -  

$ 1.624 
$ 634 

$ 2,075 
$ 1,376 

2003 2002 

$(15,250) 

44,000 
434 
156 

11 - 
- 

3.689 
30 

192 
(5,246) - 
4.719 

1,106 
31 

(4.204) 
(3,426) 
(7.828) 

18,414 

- 

- 

S 2,046 

40.350 
693 

104 
16.621 
3,408 

133.847) 
l j i  

1.008 
668 

1,148 

69 
7,386 
(750) 

1,388 
(1,478) 
(1.624) 
7.321 

44.642 

- 

- 

(19,564) 
(10,841) 

200 - 
- 

24,460 (30,205) 

- 
200 

40,049 

(59.015) 
(8,177) 
(5.205) 

(4,200) 

81 - 
(36,267) 

6,607 

28.050 

$ 34,651 

- - 
$ 16,413 
$ 161 

$ -  
% -  

$ -  
$ 765 

(10,WO) - 
35 

(13.040) 
(20,657) 
(6.752) 

( 120) 
I I8 - 

(50.4 16) - 
(35,979) 

64,029 

0 28.050 - 
$ 19.883 
$ 7  

$ -  
$ -  

% -  
$ -  



See notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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PAC-WEST TELECOMM, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

December 31,2004 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Description of Business 
Pac-West Telecomm, Inc. (the Company) has evolved into a high-value, independent provider of integrated communications 

solutions that enable communication providers to use our network and services as an alternative to building and maintaining their own 
network. The Company’s customers include Internet service providers, enhanced communications service providers (ESPs) and other 
direct providers of communication services to business or residential end-users, collectively referred to as service providers, or SPs. 
In  response to our changing business model, on March I 1, 2005, we sold the majority of our enterprise customer base to 
U.S. TelePacific Corp. (TelePacific) while retaining our associated network assets. Under the terms of this transaction, TelePacific 
acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities associated with our Enterprise customers in exchange for $26.9 million in cash 
(see Note 18). 

Principles of Consolidation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries since the date of 
acquisition. All intercompany accounts and transactions have bcen eliminated. 

Critical Accounting Po Iicies 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These assumptions effect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and reported amounts of revenues and expenses: 

Management considers the following accounting policies to be critical due to the estimation process involved in their calculation: 

revenue recognition; 

provision for doubtful accounts receivable; 

* estimated settlements of disputed billings; and 

* impairment of long-lived assets 

By their nature, these judgments are subject to uncertainty. Thus, actual results could differ from estimates made and such 
differences could be material. 

Revenue Recognilion The Company recognizes revenue when: 

there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement; 

- delivery of the product or performance of the service has occurred; 

the selling price is fixed and determinable; and 

collectibility is reasonably assured. 

The Company recognizes revenues from service access agreements as the service is provided, except for intercarrier compensation 
fees paid by our intercamer customers for completion of their customers’ calls through our network, and access charges paid by 
carriers for long distance traffic terminated on our network. The rights of competitive local exchange camers (CLECs), to receive this 
type of compensation is the subject of numerous regulatory and legal challenges. Until this issue is ultimately resolved, the Company 
will continue 
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PAC-WEST TELECOMM, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued) 

to recognize intercarrier compensation as revenue when the price becomes fixed and determinable and collectibility is reasonably 
assured. 

Some Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers (ILECs) with which the Company has interconnection agreements had withheld 
payments from amounts billed by the Company under their agreements. The process of collection of intercamer compensation can be 
complex and subject to interpretation of regulations and laws. This can lead to the requirement for negotiated settlements between the 
Company and the ILEC where it  agrees to accept a portion of what it believes is owed to it. These settlements generally reflect the 
mutual agreements of both parties that exist at the date of the settlement. Settlements were entered into with ILECs whereby the 
ILECs paid the Company an aggregate of $10.7 million in 2004, $5.7 million in 2003 and $20.6 million in 2002. The settlements were 
included in revenues. 

I 
Non-refundable up-front payments received for installation services, and related costs up to the amount of revenues, are 

recognized as revenue and expense ratably over the term of the service contracts, generally 36 months. Any costs in excess of 
recognized revenues are expensed in the period incurred. As of December 3 1,2004, $1 ,I 99,000 of installation payments received 
were deferred and are included in deferred revenues and $623,000 of associated costs were deferred and are included in other assets, 
in t!!e accompanying consc!idated balance sheets. I 

I 

Provision for doubtfil accounts receivable. The Company estimates the provision for doubtful accounts receivable based upon the 
following factors: 

historical collection experience; 

customer delinquencies and bankruptcies; 

information provided by the Company’s customers; 

observance of trends in the industry; and 

other current economic conditions. 

Past due balances over 30 days and over a specified amount are reviewed individually for collectibility. Account balances arc 
charged off against-the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is remotc. 
Collection is due and payable either upon reccipt or up to 30 days from the date of invoice. 

Estimated settlements for disputed billings. During the ordinary course of business, the Company may be billed at incorrect rates 
or for carrier traffic that management believes the Company is not responsible for. Accordingly, the Company will dispute the billing 
with the vendor and withhold payment until the matter is resolved. The Company’s current disputes are primarily related to incorrect 
facility rates or incorrect billing elements the Company believes it is being charged. Management regularly reviews and monitors all 
disputed items and records an accrual that represents what it believes it may pay to settle the dispute. Although the Company 
continues to actively try and expedite resolutions, often times the state Public Utilities Commission becomes involved in the 
arbitration of these agreements. This process is often lengthy and resolutions are often subject to appeal. As of December 31,2004, the 
Company accrued approximately $1.3 million, representing managements best estimate of expected settlements of disputes currently 
in negotiation. If  resolutions to items in negotiation are favorable or unfavorable to management’s estimations, the Company’s reserve 
for disputed items may be subject to change. 
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Long-lived ussers. In 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 144, “Accounting for 
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” The Company evaluates its long-lived assets if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be hlly recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and 
used is measured by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to the potential undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by 
the asset. If 



PAC-WEST TELECOMM, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued) 

an asset is considered to be impaired, it is written down to its fair market value. This is assessed based on factors specific to the type of 
asset. In assessing the recoverability of these assets, the Company must make assumptions regarding, among other things, estimated 
future cash flows to determine the fair market value of the respective assets. If these estimates and the re1ate.d assumptions change, the 
Company may be required to record additional impairment charges for thesc assets in the future. During the fourth quarter of 2004 and 
the second quarter of 2002, the Company recorded impairment charges of $54.9 million and $1 6.6 million, respectively. 

Other Signijicant Accounting Policies 

Reclassrfication. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. The carrying value of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, marketable debt and equity 
securities, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate their respective fair values due to the short-term nature of these 
instruments. The fair value of the Senior Secured Note approximates the value on March 1 1,2005 when the Company repaid this note. 
The fair value of the Company’s Senior Notes was based on a quotation from an investment bank as of December 31,2004 e?? 
approximates cnrir carrying value. The fair value of the Company’s other notes payable are based on the borrowing rates currently 
available to the Company for bank loans with similar terms and average maturities and approximate their carrying value. 

Cash Equivalents. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash 
equivalents. 

Short Term Investments. All investments with a maturity of greater than three months at the date of purchase are accounted for 
under SFAS No. 1 15, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” Although the Company’s investment 
portfolio only contains investments that are highly liquid and can be converted to cash at any time, the Company determines the 
appropriate classification of the investment as a cash equivalent or an availablefor-sale short-term investment based on the 
anticipated maturity date at the time of purchase. The Company’s investments are not subject to penalties for early terminations or 
sales. All investments as of December 3 1,2004 and 2003 were classified as available-forsale and carried at fair value. Gross realized 
gains and losses were insignificant and included in interest income in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 
Differences between cost and fair value (unrealized gains and losses) are recorded as other comprehensive income (loss), a separate 
component of stockholders’ equity. 

Property and Equipmenf. Property and equipment is stated at cost and includes network and other communication equipment, 
equipment under capital leases, office furniture, business software and computer equipment, vehicles, leasehold improvements, and 
projects in progress. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance, which do not extend the usefd life of the property and equipment and 
purchases below $1,000, are charged to expense as incurred. Upon retirement, the asset cost and related accumulated depreciation are 
relieved from the consolidated financial statements. Gains and losses associated with dispositions and impairment of property and 
equipment are reflected as (income) loss on asset dispositions, net and impairment of assets, respectively, in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method. Estimated useful 
lives range from 3 to 20 years. 

Network expenses. Network expenses are comprised mainly of leased transport charges, usage charges for long distance and 
intrastate calls and, to a lesser extent, intercarrier compensation the Company pays to other companies related to calls that originate 
with a Pac-West customer and terminate on the network of an ILEC or other CLEC. The Company’s leased transport charges include 
the lease payments it incurs for the transmission facilities, or circuits, used to connect its customers to its switches and to connect to 
ILEC and CLEC networks. Depreciation expense associated with the Company’s switching equipment is included in 
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depreciation and amortization in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company does not include any significant employee 
costs in network expenses. 

Stock Bused Compensation. The Company follows Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issues to 
Employees” for its stock based compensation plans. The Company has adopted the disclosureonly provisions of SFAS No. 123, 
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to disclose pro forma information regarding options granted to its employees based on 
specified valuation techniques that produce estimated compensation charges. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing 
model to drive theoretical fair value of employee stock option grants. These amounts have not been reflected in the Company’s 
consolidated statements of operations because no compensation arises when the price of the employees’ stock options equals the 
market value of the underlying stock at the date of grant, as in the Company’s case. If compensation expense for the Company’s 
stock-based compensation plans had been determined in accordance with the fair value as prescribed in SFAS 12j, the Company’s net 
(loss) income per share for the years ended December 31,2004,2003, and 2002 would have been as follows: 

Net (loss) income as reported 
Total stock-based employee compensation included in reported net 
loss/income, net of tax 
Total stock-based employee compensation determined under the fair 
value based method 

Pro forma 
Basic net (loss) income per common share: 
’ Asreported 

Pro forma 
Diluted net (loss) income per common share: 

As reported 
Pro forma 

2004 2003 2002 

(Dollars in inousanas except 

S(75.033) IE (15,250) S 2,046 

200 8 76 

I 

per share amounts) ’ 

(1,702) - - - (1,366) (1,299) 

S(76.199) S(16.541) S 420 

3 (2.05) $ (0.42) S 0.06 
S (2.08) $ (0.45) S 0.01 

S (2.08) S (0.45) s 0.01 
$ (2.05) S (0.42) $ 0.06 

Income Taxes. The Company provides for income taxes under the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective income tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are measured using enacted tax rates expected to be applied to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are 
expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred income tax assets and liabilities of changes in tax rates is recognized in 
income in the period that includes the enactment dates. Valuation allowances are provided against deferred tax assets when it is more 
likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. 

Accruals related to restructuring activities. In June 2002 and August 2001, the Company approved and announced restructuring 
plans, which included, among other things, closing switch facilities in Colorado and Utah and consolidation of sales offices. In order 
to estimate rcnt expense related to these abandoned premises, the Company made certain assumptions including; (1) the time period 
over which the premises would remain vacant, (2) sublease terms, and (3) estimated sublease rents. In the case of the switching 
facilities, no sublease income was estimated due to the specialized nature these facilities. If the Company is able to sublet or negotiate 
an early termination penalty for its abandoned switch facility in Colorado, or is unable to sublet the sales offices within the estimated 
timeframe and at estimated terms, the restructuring charge could be subject to change. 
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB) issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment.” Among 
other items, the standard requires the Company to recognize compensation cost for all share-based payments, in the Company’s 
consolidated statements of operations. Depending on the model used to calculate stock-based compensation expense in the future and 
other requirements of SFAS No. 123R, the pro forma disclosure in Note I O  may not be indicative of the stock-based compensation 
expense that will be recognized in the Company’s future financial statements. The new standard is effective for the first period that 
begins after June 15, 2005, and allows two different methods of transition. The Company is currently evaluating the new standard and 
models, which may be used to calculate future stock-based compensation expense. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets.” SFAS No. 153 amends APB 
Opinion 29, “Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions,” to eliminate the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive 
assets and replaces it with a general exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. A 
nonmonetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash flcw of the entity are expected to change significantly as a result 
of the exchange. APB Opinion 29 is based on the principle that exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured based on fair 
value of the assets exchanged. SFAS No. 153 is effective for nonmonetary exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after 
June 15, 2005. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 153 will have a material impact on it financial position, 
results of operations and cash flows. 

In October 2004, the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 04-8 (EITF 04-8), “The Effect of Contingently 
Convertible Instruments on Diluted Earnings per Share.” EITF 04-8 addresses when contingently convertible instruments should be 
included in diluted earnings per share. Contingent convertible instruments are instruments that have embedded conversion features 
that are contingently convertible or exercisable based on (a) a market price trigger or @) multiple contingencies if one of the 
contingencies is a market price trigger and the instrument can be converted or share settled based on meeting the specified market 
condition. The Task Force concluded that contingently convertible instruments should be included in diluted earnings per share (if 
dilutive) regardless of whether the market price trigger has been met. EITF 04-8 is effective for periods ending after December 15, 
2004. The adoption of EITF 04-8 did not have an impact on the Company’s diluted earnings per share. 

In March 2004, the FASB issued EITF 03-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain 
Investments.” EITF 03-1 includes new guidance for evaluating and recording impairment losses on debt and equity instruments, as 
well as new disclosure requirements for investments that are deemed to be temporarily impaired. The accounting guidance provided in 
EITF 03-1 is effective for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2004, while the disclosure requirements are effective for annual 
periods ending after September 15, 2004. The Company does not expect the adoption of EITF 03-1 will have a material impact on its 
financial position, results of operations and cash flows. 

In December 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest 
Entities,” which addresses how a business enterprise should evaluate whether it has a controlling financial interest in an entity through 
means other than voting rights and accordingly should consolidate the entity. The adoption of FASB Interpretation No. 46 did not 
have an impact on the Company as at December 3 1, 2004, the Company does not believe it had any VIE’S for which this interpretation 
would be applicable. 

In December 2003, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 104, “Revenue Recognition,” which codifies, revises and 
rescinds certain sections of SAB NO. 10 I ,  Revenue Recognition, in order to make this interpretive guidance consistent with current 
authoritative accounting and auditing guidance and SEC 
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rules and regulations. The changes noted in SAB No. 104 did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position, results of 
operations and cash flows. 

Concentration of Customers and Suppliers 

During 2004 revenues from three customers accounted for 21 . I  %, 17.6% and 3.9% of revenues. During 2003 these same three 
customers accounted for 2 1.8%, 17.1 % and 10.6% of revenues, respectively, and during 2002 accounted for 3 1 .S%, 8.8% and 16.O%, 
respectively. During each of the years ended December 31,2004,2003 and 2002 no other customer accounted for more than 10.0% of 
total revenues. As of December 3 1,2004 accounts receivable from one customer represented more than 10% of trade accounts 
receivable. In 2004,2003 and 2002, the Company’s largest source of operating costs was also one ILEC which represented 40.3%, 
37.3% and 32.4% of the Company’s network expenses during the years ended 2004,2003 and 2002, respectively. 

2. Investments 

The following table summarizes the Company’s investments in securities at December 3 1,2004: 

Unrealized Fair Market 
cos t  Losses, net Value 

US. government agencies 
Commercial paper 
Corporate bonds 

Total investments in securities 
Cash 

Total cash and investments 

Reponed as: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Short-term investments 

(Dollars in thousands) 
$ 7,457 % -  $ 7,457 

4,892 - 4,892 
10.615 (114) 10.501 

22.850 
19.9 I6 

$42.766 - 
$32,265 

10.50 I 

$42,766 - 
As of December 31,2004, all of the contractual maturities of the Company’s US. government agencies and commercial paper we 

re before April I ,  2005. 

The following table summarizes the Company’s investments in securities at December 3 1, 2003: 

Commercial paper 
Cash 

Total cash and investments 

Unrealized Fair Market 
cos t  Losses, net Value 

(Dollars in thousands) 
$27,702 $ -  S27.702 

6.955 

S 34.657 
- - 

As of December 3 1,2003, all of the contractual maturities of the Company’s commercial paper were before February 28,2004. 

F-13 



PAC-WEST TELECOMM, TNC. 

NOTES T O  CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued) 

3. Property and Equipment 

The following tables summarize the Company’s property and equipment, net at December 31,2004 and 2003: 

2004 2003 

Network and other communication equipment 
Equipment under capital leases 
Office furniture 
Business software and computer equipment 
Vehicles 
Leasehold improvements 
Projects in Process 

Accumulated depreciation and amortization 

$ 145,789 
2.140 
2,608 

27,128 
866 

16,596 
210 

(Dollars in thousands) 
S 187,001 

2 1,020 
2,623 

29,302 
1,300 

2 I .992 
209 

195,337 
(1  5 1,924) 

263.447 
(142,236) 

Property and equipmenl, net $ 43,413 - S 121,211 - 
The Company capitalizes interest on capital projects when the project invc. Jes considerat.- time to implement and major 

expenditures. Such interest is capitalized as part of the cost of the equipment and is amortized over the remaining life of the assets. 
Interest is capitalized based on the Company’s incremental borrowing rate during the period of asset construction. In 2004,2003 and 
2002, the Company capitalized $0, $65,000, and $967,000, respectively, of interest related to capital projects. 

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment was $32.3 million, $43.8 million and $40.1 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method based on 
the following estimated useful lives: 

Equipment 
Vehicles 
Leasehold improvements 

3 to 7 years 
5 years 
20 years or life of lease, whichever is shorter 

During the first quarter of 2003, the Company changed its accounting estimates related to depreciation. The Company reduced the 
useful life for phone equipment provided to customers and computer hardware from 5 years to 3 years and extended the useful life of 
some leasehold improvements from I O  years to up to 20 years. As a result of the change, the Company incurred additional 
deprcciation in the first quarter, which increased net loss for the year ended December 3 1, 2003 by $1.6 million or $0.04 per diluted 
share. 

The Company reclassified $1.1  million related to a technology lease from depreciation expense to selling, general and 
administrative expenses for the year ended December 3 1,2002. In managcment’s opinion, the new classification more accurately 
presents the nature of the related expense in the Company’s income statemcnt based on the underlying transaction. 

4. Impairment of Assets 

In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, in connection with the 2004 audit of the Company’s yearend 
financial statements, the Company tested its long-lived tangible and intangible assets to determine whether the carrying amounts of 
such assets were recoverable from future undiscounted cash flows. Primarily as a result of ongoing price compression and recent 
industry trends in the dial-up Internet access market, the Company recorded non-cash asset impairment charges of $54.6 million for 
its tangible assets. In 
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performing the test, the Company determined that the total of the expected future undiscounted cash flows directly related to the 
existing service potential of the assets were less than the carrying value of the assets; therefore, an impairment charge was required. 
The Company engaged a third party valuation specialist to assist in the evaluation of the fair value of its assets using a sales 
comparison approach, as well as a replacement cost approach. The impairment charges represented the difference between the fair 
value of the property and equipment and its carrying value and are included within impairment of assets in the consolidated statements 
of operations. As a result of the asset impairments, a new cost basis was established for those assets that were impaired. The new cost 
basis resulted in a reduction of gross property and equipment and did not change the remaining estimated useful lives. 

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” the Company tested its goodwill and 
intangible assets for impairment. The Company estimated fair value using a market comparables approach that resulted in goodwill 
impairment charges of $0.3 million during the fourth quarter of 2004. 

5. Other Assets 

At December 3 1,  other assets consist of the following: 

Deferred financing cosis 
Acquisition of lease rights 
Long-tern ponion of deferred installation costs 
Prepaid maintenance 
Long-lem portion of prepaid expenses and deposits 
Intangible assets 

2004 2003 

(Dollars in thousands) 
$ 1.038 $ 1,635 

378 594 
25 1 311 
587 - 
329 38 

81 - 

5 2,664 $2,578 - - 
Deferred financing costs consist primarily of capitalized amounts for underwriter fees, professional fees and other expenses related 

to the issuance of the Company’s debt. Amortization of deferred financing costs for the years ended December 3 1,2004,2003 and 
2002 was $703,000, $434,000 and $693,000, respectively, and is included in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated 
statements of operations. During 2004, thc Company incurred an additional $146,000 in deferred financing costs related to the Senior 
Secured Note transaction with Deutsche Bank AG -New York and $100,000 in deferred financing costs related to the secured 
financing arrangement with Memll Lynch Capital. During 2003 and 2002, the Company purchased from holders of its Senior Notes 
an aggregate of $59.0 million and $54.9 million principal amount of Senior Notes. In connection with these transactions, the Company 
expensed $3.3 million of deferred financing costs associated with the Senior Notes redeemed. The Company also incurred additional 
deferred financing costs of $5.2 million in 2003 related to the issue of the Company’s Senior Secured Note. 

During 1999, the Company acquired lease rights of additional space in its Los Angeles facility. This amount is being amortized on 
a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, which is 81 months. Amortization expense for this facility was $216,000 for each year 
ended 2004,2003 and 2002, and is included in amortization expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 

In May 2004, the Company completed an agreement for maintenance with Cisco Systems, Inc. A $1.6 million note payable was 
exchanged for a 36-month maintenance services agreement. This is included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet in other 
current assets, other assets, and other accrued liabilities. Additionally, the related expense is included in selling, general, and 
administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 
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6. Restructuring Charges 

A summary of the restructuring expenses and the associated remaining liability which is included in other accrued liabilities in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31,2004 and 2003 consist of the following: 

Rent expense for vacated premises 
Circuit obligations 
Other charges 

Rent expense for vacated premises 
Circuit obligations 
Other charges 

Restructuring 
Liability 

as of Dec. 31, 
2003 

$2,989 
1,547 

6 

$4,542 

_I - 
Restructuring 

Liability 
as of D e c  31, 

2002 

$3,476 
2.800 

87 

$6,363 

- - 

Addltional 
Restructuring 

Expense Cash 
Incurred Payments 

(Dollars in thousands) 
$170 f (695) 

352 ( 1,899) - 
-I 

(6) 
._ 

$516 S(2.594) - - 
Additional 

Restructuring 
Expense Cash 
Incurred Payments 

(Dollars in thousands) 
$206 $ (693) 

(1,253) - 
- - (81) - 

$125 
m 

$ (1,946) - 

Restructuring 
Liability 

as of  Dec. 31, 
2004 

$2.464 - 
- - 

$2.464 - 
Restructuring 

Liability 
as of Dee. 31, 

2003 

$4.542 - 
The Company did not approvc any new restructuring plan in 2004 and 2003. The balances of the restructuring liabilities relate to 

restructuring plans approved in June 2002 and August 2001. The 2002 restructuring plan primarily provided for the closure of the 
Company’s switch facility in Colorado. The 2002 restructuring plan was in response to the further weakening of the economy, 
additional competitive pressure from competitors who had reorganized and lowered their cost structure, overcapacity in the 
Company’s industry and lower demand from customers for its products and services. 

Thc 2001 restructuring plan primarily provided for the suspension of the Company’s expansion plans in certain states, exiting of 
certain lower margin products and services (including residential resale and customer owned and maintained (COAM) equipment) and 
undertaking certain cost reduction initiatives. In addition to restructuring certain product offerings, the restructuring initiatives 
included closing the Company’s switch facility in Utah, consolidation of six sales offices, and a workforce reduction of approximately 
200 employees. The workforce reduction was completed during the fourth quarter, with all severance payments being made as of 
December 3 1,200 1. The 2001 restructuring plan was in response to a weakening economy and increasing competitive pressure 
resulting from lower than expected demand for telecommunications services and overcapacity in the Company’s industry, 
management shifted the Company’s strategy to margin improvement, cost containment and cash conservation rather than top-line 
growth. 

The amount of the reserve for vacated premises is equal to the monthly lease payment of the unoccupied space, less any estimated 
sublease income, multiplied by the remaining months on the lease. In regards to the Colorado facility, no sublease income was 
estimated due to the specialized nature of this facility. During the second quarter of 2004, the Company recorded additional 
restructuring charges of approximately $1 94,000 due to increased common area operating expenses at the Colorado facility. This 
amount was partially offset by reversals of $37,000 of previously recorded restructuring charges related to the timing and amounts for 
sublease income, primarily in San Diego. During the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company recorded additional 
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restructuring charges of $13,000 for an estimated increase in rent expense at the San Diego and San Francisco office locations. During 
the second and third quarters of 2004, the Company recorded additional restructuring charges of approximately $228,000 and 
$ 124,000, respectively, due to on-going negotiations to the amount owed for circuit commitment obligations, which the Company 
paid off during the third quarter of 2004. During the third quarter of 2004, the Company reversed $6,000 of previously recorded 
restructuring charges related primarily to professional fees that were anticipated but not incurred. The final cash payment to be 
recorded against the restructuring reserve is currently expected to occur in March 2010. 

During 2003, the Company recorded additional restructuring charges of $206,000 relating to office space in San Diego, California. 
The amount of the reserve recorded is equal to the monthly lease payment of the unoccupied space multiplied by the remaining 
months on the lease. Sub-lease income was not anticipated in 2003 primarily due to economic conditions. In addition, during 2003, 
the Company reversed $81,000 of previously recorded restructuring charges relating to professional fees that wereianticipated but not 
incurred. 

During the second quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a $9.3 million restructuring charge in connection with the closure of its 
switch facility in Colorado. Of this amount, $3.3 million related to the write-off of the net book value of leasehold improvements and 
equipment which could not be redeployed to other locations and, in management’s best estimate, had a fair marketlvalue of zero; 
$2.8 million related to circuit commitment obligations; and $3.2 million related to future rent payments due for the,abandoned premise 
in Colorado which will be paid over the lease term, which ends in fiscal year 2010. In order to estimate rent expense related to this 
premise, and those premises discussed in the following paragraph, the Company made certain assumptions including; (1) the time 
period over which the premises would remain vacant, (2) sublease terms, and (3) estimated sublease rents. In the case of the Colorado 
switching facility and the Utah switching facility, no sublease income was estimated due to the specialized nature of these facilities 
and current economic conditions. Accordingly, the Company believed the net book value of the leasehold improvements for the 
facilities had a fair market value of zero. 

In the third quarter of 2002, the Company recorded an additional restructuring charge of $21,000, net representing the net 
difference between the amount estimated and the actual net book value of impaired leasehold improvements. In the fourth quarter of 
2002, the Company reduced its restructuring accrual for future rent payments for the Colorado switch facility by $0.2 million as the 
Company had to use the facility longer than anticipated due to a delay in transferring one of its customers to another carrier. As of 
December 31,2003, the Company had a remaining liability for this restructuring activity of approximately $4.1 million. This lease 
expires in March 2010. 

In the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company negotiated and paid an early termination penalty to satisfy all future rent payments due 
for its switch facility in Utah. Accordingly, the Company reversed previous charges of $0.5 million to bring the accrual for this facility 
to zero. As of December 3 1,2003, the Company had a remaining liability of $0.4 million for this restructuring reserve. 
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7. Other Accrued Liabilities 

At December 31, other accrued liabilities consist of the following: 

Accrued restructuring charges 
Accrued payroll and related expenses 
Reserve for refunds to customers 
General liability insurance 
TelePacific Communications transaction deposits 
Other 

2004 2003 

(Dollars in thousands) 
$ 2.464 S 4.542 

3,095 2,907 
98 649 
SO3 790 

3,500 - 
2,785 2,808 - - 

$12,445 - 
8. Debt and Capital Lease Obligations 

At December 3 I ,  long-term debt and capital lease obligations consist of the following: 

Senior Notes 
Senior Secured Note, net of discount of $16,134 
Capital lease obligations 
Notes Payable 
Less current portion of notes payable and capital leases 

$11,696 - 

2004 2003 

(Dollars in thousands) 
$36.1 02 S 36,102 

24.500 18.369 
1.285 2,780 
6,040 69 

(2,889) (2,606) 

$65,038 $54.7 14 

- - - - 
On December 19,2003 the Company sold to Deutsche Bank AG -New York, acting through DB Advisors, LLC, as investment 

advisor (Dcutsche Bank), as investment advisor, in a private placement exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(2) of the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, a senior secured note in the principal amount of $40.0 million, (the Senior Secured Note), and 
warrants to purchase up to 26,666,667 shares of its common stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share. The Senior Secured Note 
carries an interest rate of LIBOR plus 0.5% (3.02% at December 31,2004), and matures in December 2006 (See Note 18). The 
maturity date of the Senior Secured Note will be automatically extended to coincide with any extension of the expiration date of the 
warrants, which is extendable for up to an additional 18 months at the option of Deutsche Bank. The Company allocated $1 8.2 million 
of the proceeds of the Senior Secured Note to debt and $21.8 million to the warrants on the basis of their relative fair values. The 
allocation of proceeds representing the fair value of the warrants to additional paid-in capital creates a discount on the Senior Secured 
Note. Under the terms of the guaranty and security agreement related to the Senior Secured Note, the Company has granted Deutsche 
Bank a security interest in substantially all of its assets and agreed to certain covenants including limitations on the Company’s ability 
to incur additional indebtedness, incur liens, sell assets and pay dividends. As of December 3 1,2004, the Company was in compliance 
with these covenants. 

Accrued interest on the Senior Secured Note is payable quarterly in cash, or at the Company’s option, may be capitalized and 
added to outstanding principal. In accordance with the terms of the Senior Secured Note, during 2004, the Company elected to 
capitalize and add to the outstanding principal balance interest of approximately $0.6 million, which is reflected as a non-cash 
operating and financing activity in the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. As of December 3 1,2004, the 
principal balance was 
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$40.6 million, the balance of the discount was $16.1 million and the effective interest rate was approximately 30%. During 2004 and 
2003, the discount amortization was $5.5 million and $0.2 million, respectively. The Company has amortized the discount on an 
effective yield to maturity basis over the life of the note. Projected interest expense on this secured note (assuming that the note is held 
to maturity, no interest payments are deferred and the note is not extended a full 18 months) is as follows: 

(Dollars in thousands) 

2005 
2006 

S 7,116 
9,016 

$16,132 
I 

- - 
The Senior Notes, of which there is $36.1 million in principal amount outstanding at December 3 1, 2004 and 2003, mature on 

February 1,2009 and bear interest at 13.5% per annum payable in semiannual installments, with all principal due in full on 
F c 5 r c q  !, 11.90. !n 3 x m b e r  2003, the Company repurchased $59.0 million principal amount of Senior ;Votes in a tender ofrer. in 
2002 the Company paid approximately $20.7 million to repurchase $54.9 million principal amount of Senior Note;. These transactions 
resulted in a loss (gain) (net of the write-off of related capitalized debt issuance costs and costs paid to outside parties to complete the 
transaction) of $3.7 million and S(33.8) million in 2003 and 2002 respectively. 

In conjunction with the December 2003 tender offer for Senior Notes the Company also solicited consents to effect certain 
proposed amendments to the indenture governing the Senior Notes. These amendments to the indenture governing the Senior Notes, 
which are now effective, eliminated most of the indenture’s principal restrictive covenants and amended certain other provisions 
contained in the indenture. As of December 31,2004, the Company was in compliance with these covenants. 

During the second quarter of 2004, the Company entered into a secured financing arrangement with Merrill Lynch Capital, a 
division of Merrill Lynch Business Financial Services, Inc., pursuant to which the Company may borrow up to an aggregate amount of 
$ 10.0 million, subject to certain conditions. This financing arrangement is structured in a manner that provides for multiple credit 
facilities up to an aggregate of $10.0 million with each facility having separate closing dates and repayment schedules. This secured 
financing arrangement expired on December 3 I ,  2004. The principal and accrued interest of each facility shall be payable in 36 equal 
monthly installments. Thc Company has the option to prepay the outstanding facility after 18 months subject to a maximum premium 
of 3% of the outstanding facility. Interest on each facility will be fixed at 5% plus the 3-year swap rate, as published by Bloomberg 
Professional Services, determined two business days prior to the closing date of each facility. The Company used the proceeds of this 
financing arrangement to acquire new telecommunication switch and related equipment, which secure borrowings under this financing 
arrangement. 

As of December 3 I ,  2004, the Company had borrowed approximately $5.4 million under the Memll Lynch Capital financing 
arrangement under two credit facilities both with interest rates of 8.6%. As of December 3 1, 2004, the principal balance was 
$4.7 million and is included under Notes Payable in the above table. In July 2004, approximately $2.1 million of these borrowings was 
paid directly to a vendor by Merrill Lynch Capital for an equipment acquisition and is reflected on the Company’s Condensed 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows as a non-cash investing and financing activity. 

In May 2004, the Company completed financing agreements for various network equipment with Cisco Systems, Inc. These 
financing agreements were comprised of $1.4 million of equipment capital leases and a $1.6 million note payable exchanged for a 
36-month maintenance services agreement. These transactions are reflected on the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statement of 
Cash Flows as a non-cash investing and financing activity, and a non-cash operating and financing activity. As of December 31, 
2004, the principal balance ofthe capital lease was $ 1  . I  million and is included under Capital lease obligations in the above table. 
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As of December 3 1,2004, the balance of the note payable was $1.3 million and is included under Notes Payable in the above table. 

During the third quarter of 2003, the Company leased $0.8 million of equipment over a period of 24 months. This transaction is 
reflected on the Company’s Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows as a non-cash investing and financing activity. As of 
December 3 1,2004, the principal balance was $0.2 million and is included under Capital lease obligations in the above table. 

As of December 3 1 ,  2004, future obligations related to Senior Notes, Senior Secured Note, Notes Payable (collectively Notes) and 
capital leases are as follows (projected interest on the Senior Secured Note was based on the interest rate at December 31,2004 and 
not added to the outstanding principal): 

Capital 
NOk5 Leases 

2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 

Total minimum note and lease payments 
Less: portion representing interest 

Present value of net minimum note and lease payments 
Less: short-tern portion 

Notes and capital lease obligations, long-term portion 

9. Commitments and Contingencies 

(Dollars in thousands) 
$ 8,705 s 747 

33,2&4 520 
6,281 173 
4,876 - 

36,508 - - - 
89,574 

(22,932) 

66,642 
(2.255) 

$ 64.387 - $ 651 - 

Operating Leases 
The Company currently .leases and operates seven principal facilities under non-cancelable operating leases as follows: 

Facility 

Stockton, California 
Stockton, California 
Oakland, California 
Los Angeles, California 
Las Vegas, Nevada 
Seattle. Washington 
Phoenix, Arizona 

Lease Expiration 

June 2006 
September 2007 
November 2008 
September 2006 

October 2009 
December 2009 

April 2010 

The Stockton lease expiring in June 2006 has three two-year renewal options remaining and the other facility leases contain two 
five-year renewal options, except for Oakland, which has one fiveyear renewal option. The Company also leases telephone 
equipment sites and telephone circuits on month-to-month, annual and long-term non-cancelable leases. As the Company’s leased 
telephone circuit commitments are fulfilled, the leases convert to month-to-month agreements. Management of the Company expects 
that these leases will be renewed or replaced, as necessary, by other leases in the normal course of business. 
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The Company’s restructuring programs, one approved and announced in the third quarter of 2001 and the other in the second 
quarter of 2002, included closing the Company’s switch facilities in Utah and Colorado and the consolidation of six sales offices. All 
of these leases, except for the Colorado switch facility and two of the sales offices, have been terminated. The Company is subleasing 
both of the sales offices and continues to actively search for tenants to sublease the Colorado switch facility. Including the leases for 
the abandoned premises that the Company has not yet terminated less any sublease agreements in place, the Company’s future 
minimum lease payments with initial terms in excess of one year as of December 3 1, 2004, are as follows: 

Operating Leases 

2005 
2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 and thereafter 

Telephgne 
Circuits and 

Space Equipment 

(Dollars in thousands) 
$ 3,885 $ 6,682 

3,278 3,13? 
i . i l 7  1,309 

1.029 - 
144 - 

1.444 44’9 

$11.897 - $11,572 - 
Rental expense charged to operations for the years ended December 3 I ,  2004,2003 and 2002, for operating leases for space, 

excluding amounts charged against the restructuring liability, was $3.5 million, $3.5 million and $4.0 million, respectively. Rent 
expense is included in selling, general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The 
Company expects to receive sublease income of approximately $0.2 million during 2005. Rental expense charged to operations for 
telephone circuits of approximately $30.0 million, $35.2 million and $40.4 million for the years ended December 31,2004,2003 and 
2002, respectively, is included in network expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Rental expense paid 
to related parties was approximately $0.4 million, $0.3 million and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2004,2003 and 
2002, respectively. 

Employmeni Agreements 

At December 3 1 ,  2004 the Company had the following employment agreements in place: 

* an agreement with its Vice President and Founder created in 2004. This agreement provided for, among other things, a minimum 
annual base salary, fees based on services provided, benefits to be received, and job responsibilities; 

an agreement with its current President and Chief Executive Officer created in 2003. This agreement provided for, among other 
things, minimum annual base salaries, bonus entitlements upon the achievement of certain objectives, and the issuance of stock 
options; 

agreements regarding compensation and change in control with all of the Company’s executive officers. These agreements 
provide for a lump sum payment equal to 150% of the executive’s base salary, health plan benefits, and option treatment in the 
event of a merger or combination of the Company into another entity, or the sale or disposition of all, or substantially all, of the 
Company’s assets; and 

an agreement with its current chairman and former chief executive officer, which provides for a minimum annual compensation 
level and other benefits. 
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The total annual value of the minimum base salary compensation for the agreements noted above is approximately $0.5 million. 

Ofher 

From time to time, the Company is subject to audits with various tax authorities that arise during the normal course of business. 
The Company believes resolutions to various tax audits that the Company may be involved with in the normal course of business, will 
not materially harm its business, financial condition or results of operations. 

Intercarrier Compensation and Legal Proceedings 

Amounts billed to ILECs and payments withheld by ILECs during each of the three years ended December 3 1,2004,2003 and 
2002 are as fo!lows: 

2004 

Total amount billed to lLECs during the year 
Amount withheld by ILECs and not recorded as revenue in the 
Company’s statements of operations (25,070) 
Amounts received for prior withholding and recorded as revenue 

$ 54,242 

10,650 
Amounts received for prior withholding and netted against expenses - - 
Net amount recorded as revenue from the ILECs during the year $ 39,822 - 

2003 2002 - 
(Dollars in thousands) 

$ 79.635 $ 82,217 

(39,372) (22,902) 
5,685 20,596 
1,115 - 

$ 47,063 S 79,911 

- - - - 
The Company has established interconnection agreements (ICAs) with certain ILECs. The Telecommunications Act of 1996 

requires ILECs to enter into ICAs with CLECs, such as the Company, and other competitors and requires state Public Utilities 
Commissions (PUCs) to arbitrate such agreements if the parties cannot reach agreement. The ICAs govern, among other items, 
intercarrier compensation agreements for the exchange of local and local toll calls between the parties. 

On March 29,2002, SBC California (SBC) filed a Petition for Arbitration with the California Public Utilities Commission 
(CPUC) with respect to its ICA with the Company, which would replace the similar agreement that expired in June of 2001, but which 
was to continue in effect until replaced. On May 8,2003, the CPUC announced its decision to adopt a modified alternate proposal of 
the TCA submitted by SBC. The new three-year agreement establishes the rules under which the Company and SBC can interconnect 
their networks to allow for the exchange of traffic, and the recovery of costs associated with exchanging such traffic. The ICA also 
recognizes that SBC may implement the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) Intercarrier Internet Service Provider (ISP) 
order, which creates separate intercarrier compensation arrangements, including rates, terms and conditions, for “presumed 
ISP-bound” traffic. The Company has disputed SBC’s implementation of the FCC plan. The Company and SBC settled the disputes 
in July 2004. 

The terms of the ICA also incent the Company to mo dify its existing network in order to avoid new transport charges imposed by 
SBC. Such network modifications cause additional costs on both an ongoing and onetime basis. The agreement also authorizes the 
Company to charge tandem switching and transport where appropriate. 

On June 12,2002, Verizon California (Verizon) filed a Petition for Arbitration with the CPUC with respect to its TCA with the 
Company, that would replace the similar agreement which expired in April of 2002, but continued in effect until replaced pursuant to 
an order of the CPUC. On June 2,2003, the Company 
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filed with the CPUC the new ICA with Verizon which resulted from the arbitration. The new three-year agreement establishes the 
rules under which the Company and Verizon can interconnect their networks to allow for the exchange of traffic and the recovery of 
costs associated with exchanging such traffic. In addition it includes a new transport charge applicable to certain traffic and makes the 
intercarrier compensation rates established by the FCC Plan effective upon the commencement of the term of the new agreement. The 
terms of the agreement also incent the Company to modify its existing network. Such network modifications cause additional costs to 
the Company on both an ongoing and one-time basis. The agreement also authorizes the Company to charge tandem switching and 
transport where appropriate. 

In July 2003 Verizon appealed the arbitration decision of the CPUC to Federal District Court, arguing among other things that the 
FCC Plan rates should have been made retroactive. The Company has opposed the relief sought by Verizon, and has challenged the 
legality of the new transport charges imposed on certain traffic. 1 

The Company cannot predict the outcome of future CPUC proceedings, future appeals or additional pending cases involving 
related issues, or of the applicability of such proceedings to its ICA with these two or other ILECs. As a result, no assurance can be 
given that the Company will continue to collect intercarrier compensation, which represents a significant portion of its revenues, in the 
future, or that additional charges may not be imposed upon the Company under such agreements in the future. ISPq currently form a 
significant part of tne Company‘s customer base in California and adverse decisions in these or related FCC procegings could limit 
its ability to serve this group of customers profitably and may have a material adverse effect on us. 

Other Legal Proceedings 

On December 6,2001, a complaint captioned Krim vs Pac-West Telecomm, Inc., et al., Civil Action No. 01-CV-I 1217, was 
filed in United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against the Company, certain executive officers, and 
various underwriters in connection with the Company’s initial public offering. An amended complaint was filed on April 19,2002. 
The plaintiffs allege that the Company and its officers failed to disclose alleged allocations of shares of the Company’s common stock 
in exchange for excessive brokerage commissions or agreements to purchase shares at higher prices in the aftermarket, in violation of 
Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 1 O(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Substantially similar actions have 
been filed concerning the initial public offerings for more than 300 different issuers, and the cases have been coordinated as In re 
Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation, 21 MC 92. The complaint against the Company seeks unspecified damages on behalf of a 
purported class of purchasers of its common stock. In October 2002, the executive officers of the Company were dismissed from the 
action without prejudice by agreement with the plaintiffs which also resulted in tolling of the statute of limitations. The court 
dismissed the Section IO@) claim against the Company in 2002. 

On July I O ,  2003, a committee of the Company’s board of directors conditionally approved a proposed settlement with the 
plaintiffs in this matter. The settlement would provide, among other things, a release of the Company and of the individual defendants 
for the conduct alleged in the action to be wrongful in the plaintiffs complaint. The Company would agree to undertake other 
responsibilities under the settlement, including agreeing to assign away, not assert, or release certain potential claims the Company 
may have against its underwriters. Any direct financial impact of the proposed settlement is expected to be borne by the Company’s 
insurers who participated in the negotiation of the settlement together with insurers representing other issuers in the class action case. 
The committee agreed to approve the settlement subject to a number of conditions, including the participation of a substantial number 
of other issuer defendants in the proposed settlement, the consent of the Company’s insurers to the settlement, and the completion of 
acceptable final settlement documentation. Furthermore, the settlement is subject to a hearing on fairness and approval by the court 
overseeing the litigation. 
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From time to time, the Company is a party to litigation that arises in the ordinary course of business. The Company believes that 
the resolution of this litigation, and any other litigation the Company may be involved with in the ordinary course of business, will not 
materially harm its business, financial condition or results of operations. 

10. Stockholders’ Equity 

Stock Options 
In January 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the terms of the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (the Wan”) which 

authorizes the granting of stock options, including restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, dividend equivalent rights, performance 
units, performance shares or other similar rights or benefits to employees, directors, consultants and advisors. Options granted under 
the Plan have a term of ten years and substantially all options vest ratably over a four year period. In addition, options have been 
granted to two senior officers (both ofwhom are no longer officers) pursuant to the 1998 Griffin and Bryson Non-Qualified Stock 
Incentive Plans. In May 2000 the Board of Directors approved the 2000 Napa Valley Non-Ql>r\lified Stock Incent+:e Plan. At 
December 31,2004 the Company had approximately 0.4 million shares available for grant under these incentive plans. 

In November 2001 the Company offered to exchange options that were previously issued. As a result, in December 2001 the 
Company canceled 831,638 options and issued new options to eligible employees on June 18, 2002. 

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plans at December 31,2004 and changes during the years ended 
December 3 1,2002,2003 and 2004 is presented in the table below: 

Balance, December 3 I ,  2001 
Granted 
Exercised 
Cancelled 

Balance, December 3 I ,  2002 
Granted 
Exercised 
Cancelled 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Shares Price 

(In thousands except 
exercise price) 

3,819 $3.06 
1,395 0.46 
(223) 0.48 
(492) 4.62 

4,559 2.22 
990 1.13 
(69) 0.49 

(532) 3.95 

- 

Balance, December 3 1,2003 
Granted 
Exercised 
Cancelled 

Balance, December 31,2004 

1.84 
1.63 
0.47 
2.93 

1.81 
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Options outstanding, exercisable and vested by price range at December 3 1,2004 are as follows: 

Range of 
Exercise Price 

$ 0.27- 0.28 
0.41 - 0.60 
0.66- 0.96 
1.00- 1.48 
1.59 - 2.37 
2.53 - 3.50 
4.06- 4.29 
6.25 - 9.13 
10.00 - 14.75 
17.50 - 25.13 
3 1.25 - 35.00 

0.27 - 35.00 

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Number Contractual 

Outstanding Life 

(Shares in thousands) 
I42 1.7 

1.613 
1,224 
131 

1,028 
397 
325 

13 
143 
49 
4 

5,069 

- - 

6.9 
7.1 
9.1 
6.2 
6.6 
5.9 
5.8 
4.9 
5.4 
5.2 

6.7 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

Number 
Vested 

And 
Exercisable 

$ 0.28 
0.50 
0.79 
1.23 
2.12 
2.74 

7.68 
10.14 
18.66 
33.83 

I n - 
9.U" 

1.81 

69 
1.145 
I .077 
24 
708 
299 
ab- 

I I  
143 
49 
4 

3,853 

- - .  

- - 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 
Price of 
Options 

Exercisable 

1 $ 0.28 
0.49 
0.79 
1.22 
2.13 
2.79 
4.06 
7.87 
10.14 
18.66 
33.83 

2.00 

As of December 3 1,2003, the number of options outstanding that were vested and exercisable was 3,144,I 19. These options had a 
weighted average exercise price of $2.1 9. As of December 3 1,2002, the number of options outstanding that were vested and 
exercisable was 2,192,502. Thesc options had a weighted average exercise price of $2.70. 

In October 2003, the Company amendcd certain terms, including the extension of the post termination exercise period, of 
previously issued options to a current officer and to a former offceT and current director of the Company. Upon separation, 
incremental compensation cost of $1.4 million related to each of the options held by both the chairman of the board and the chief 
executive officer, would be recognized over the remaining future service period of such awards. 

Pro Forma Fair Value Information 

The Company USCS the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to derive the theoretical fair value of employee stock option grants. 

The fair value of each option was cstirnated on the date ofgrant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following 
assumptions: 

Risk-free interesl rate 
Expected volatility 
Expected dividend yield 
Expected life 
Fair value of options granted 
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2.95% 2.58% 3.39% 
110% 108% 100% - - - 

4 years 4 years 4 years 
$ 1.23 $ 0.83 $ 0.33 
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

The Company established the 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the Purchase Plan) under which one million shares of common 
stock have been reserved for issuance. Full-time employees may designate up to 10% of their compensation, not to exceed 
1000 shares each six-month period, or $25,000 worth of common stock in any one calendar year, which is deducted each pay period 
for the purchase of common stock under the Purchase Plan. On the last business day of each six-month period, shares of common 
stock are purchased with the employees’ payroll deductions at 85% of the lesser of the market price on the first or last day of the 
six-month period. The Purchase Plan will terminate no later than May 2,2020. During 2004 and 2003, a total of 115,359 and 
77,75 1 shares of common stock with a weighted average fair value of $1.12 and $0.62 per share were purchased. At December 31, 
2004,579,695 shares remained available for issuance. Pro forma compensation cost has been computed for the fair value of the 
employees’ purchase rights, which was estimated using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions: expected dividend 
yields of 0% for 2004,2003 and 2002; expected life of 0.5 years for 2004,2003 and 2002; expected volatility of 84% for 2004, 
123.0% for 2003 and 100.0% for 2002 (based on the volatility period of the purchase plan); and risk-free interest rates of 1.5% for 
2004, 1.1 % for 2003 and 1.8% for 2007, The weighted-avemgr fair value of those purchase rights granted in 2004, 2003 and 2002, 
was S0.47, $0.29 and S0.20, respectively. 

Performance Unit Awards 

In December 2003, the Company granted its President and Chief Executive Officer (the CEO) the right to receive performance 
unit awards over 400,000 shares of common stock (before any stock split, reverse stock split or stock dividend) under an employment 
agreement. Under the agreement, 200,000 performance unit awards shall become vested provided the CEO remains employed by the 
Company through June 30,2007 or in the event of a change in control as defined in the Company’s 1999 Stock Incentive Plan. In 
addition, the remaining 200,000 performance unit awards will vest provided that the CEO remains employed by the Company through 
June 30,2008 or in the event of a change in control as defined in the Company’s I999 Stock Incentive Plan. The agreement provides 
for accelerated vesting in the event that the monthly average fair market value of the Company’s common stock is greater than or 
equal to $3.00 per common share for a period of six consecutive calendar months commencing on or after January 1,2004. 

The Company recorded additional paid in capital and deferred stock compensation of $768,000 (based on the Company’s share 
price ofSl.92) on the date of these performance units were awarded. The expected cost of these shares will be reflected in income on 
a straight line basis over the performance period. Assuming there is no accelerated vesting of the awards the expense for 2005 is 
projected to be $0.2 million. This will be included in selling, general and administrative expenses. 

Stock Warrants 

On December 19, 2003 the Company sold to Deutsche Bank (the Transaction) the Senior Secured Note. This Transaction 
provided, among other things, that the Company issue stock warrants to purchase up to 26,666,667 shares of its common stock at an 
exercise price of $ I  3 0  per share. See note 8 for more information. The fair value of the warrants was estimated using the 
Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions as of the Transaction date: expected dividend yield of 0%; expected life of 
three-years; expected volatility of 135%; and risk-free interest rate of 0.8%. The fair value of the warrants was $40.5 million on the 
date of the Transaction, and the relative fair value was $21.8 million (see Note 18). 

Adjustment to chairman’s and executives’ options 

On August 17,2004, the Company amended the term of option grants previously awarded to its executives, including: Wayne 
Bell, Vice President Sales and Marketing; H. Ravi Brar, Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Human Resources; Michael 
Hawn, Vice President Customer Network Services; and 
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John Sumpter, Vice President Regulatory. The amendments to the terms of the option grants previously awarded to each of the 
executives provided for: 

immediate vesting of all unvested stock options held by the executive in the event the executive is demoted or employment is 
involuntarily terminated by the Company or a successor without cause at any time during a twenty-one month period beginning 
nine months prior to the effective date of a possibility of a future change in control and; 

extension of the post termination period to exercise such option grants from 90 days to 365 days following termination of 
executive’s employment. The total number of option grants previously awarded and amended was 824,000 and the total pro 
forma incremental compensation expense based upon the intrinsic value of the option grants previously awarded to the officers 
was $ I  17,350 on August 17,2004. 1 

Upon a triggering event as defined by the amendment, the Company will record incremental compensation cost related to each of 
the option grants awarded to the officers. There was no compensation expense recorded as of December 31,2004. 

In October 2003 the Company amended the term of options previously granted to its chairman and also to its chief executive 
otticer. i hese amendments providea: I 

in the case of the Company’s chairman, the modification provided for (a) accelerated vesting such that each option shall be fully 
vested and exercisable upon termination of employment period under his employment agreement other than resignation without 
good cause or termination for cause and (b) to extend post termination exercise period such that it expires on the expiration date 
of each grant which ranges from September 2008 to December 201 1. On the modification date, the Company’s chairman held 
options to purchase 1,095,694 shares of Company common stock, which had a weighted average exercise price of $2.49 per 
share and the Company’s stock price was $2.60 per share. As The Company calculated incremental compensation expense of 
$1.4 million based upon the intrinsic value on the modification date. As there was no separation event as of December 3 1,2004, 
there is no compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 3 1,2004 
and; 

in the case of the Company’s chief executive officer, the amendment provided for (a) accelerated vesting such that each .option 
shall be fully vested and exercisable upon termination of employment period under his employment agreement other than 
resignation without good cause or termination for cause and (b) to extend post termination exercise period such that it expires on 
the expiration date of each grant which ranges from June 201 1 to December 2012. On the modification date, the Company’s 
chief executive officer held options to purchase 500,000 shares of our common stock, which had a weighted average exercise 
price ofS1.43 per share and the Company’s stock price was $4.31 per share. The Company calculated incremental compensation 
expense of $1.4 million based upon the intrinsic value on the modification date. As there was no separation event as of 
December 3 I ,  2004, there is no compensation expcnse recognized in the accomp anying consolidated statement of operations for 
the year ended December 3 1,2004. 

11. Income (Loss) Per Share 

Accordingly, 1,9 10,000 and 1,265,000 shares were excluded from the diluted 
For the years ended December 3 1,2004 and 2003, potential common stock was antidilutive, as it decreased the net loss per share. 
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net loss per share calculation for 2004 and 2003, respectively. Diluted net (loss) income per share information for the years ended 
December 3 1, 2004, 2003 and 2002 is as follows: 

2004 2003 2002 

(Dollars in thousands except per share 
amounts) 

$(75,033) $(l5,250) $ 2,046 

36,655 36.481 36.308 
26 

36,655 36,481 36.334 

- - - 
- - - - - 
- - - 

Net (loss) income 

Weighted average shares outstanding-basic 
Effect of dilutive securities 

Weighted average shares outstanding-diluted 

Net (loss) income per share-basic and diluted $ (2.05) $ (0.42) $ 0.06 - 

12. Income Taxes 

The (benefit from) provision for income taxes for the years ended December 3 1,2004,2003 and 2002 consists of the following: 

2004 2003 2002 

(Dollars in thousands) 
Current: 

Federal 
State 

Deferred: 
Federal 
State 

The Company’s (benefit from) provision for income tax differed from the amount computed by applying the statutory Federal 
income tax rate to income before income taxes as follows: 

2004 2003 2002 

Amount Rate Amount Rate Amount Rate 

(Dollars in thousands) 
--- 

Income tax determined by applying the statutory 
federal income tax rate to (loss) income before 
income taxes 
State income taxes, net of federal income tax 
benefit 
Non-deductible amortization of costs in excess of 
net assets of acquired businesses 
Nondeductible goodwill impairment 
Valuation allowance 
Changes in reserves 
Other 

%(26,261) (35.0)% 

(5.3) 

(35.0)oh S 977 35.0% 

12.2 (3,949) (4.7) 339 

- 
- 

30,156 

54 
- 

- 
40.2 

0.1 
- 

- 
1.940 

- 
8.9 

- 
- 
0.1 

(20.6) 
19 

184 
0.1 
0.8 

22 
(593) 

-% - $ (6,500) - (Benefit from) provision for income taxes (29.9>0/. $ 745 - - 26.7% - 
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The cumulative balance sheet effects of deferred tax items are: 

Trade accounts receivable allowances 
Deferred revenue 
Vacation and other accrued expenses 
Restructuring and other reserves 
Inventory reserves 
Other reserves 
Tax credits and loss canyfonvards 
State taxes 
Basis difference on depreciable and amortizable assets 

Deferred tax asset 

Sli i le taxes 
Basis difference on depreciable and amortizable assets 
Prepaid expenses 
IRU rentals 

Deferred tax liability 

Net deferred tax asset 
Valuation allowance 

Net deferred tax liability 

2004 2003 

(Dollars in  thousands) 
$ 158 $ 676 

250 322 
332 356 

1,068 1,960 
66 84 

174 252 1 
18.306 9,116 
- 1,416 

15,275 - 

35,629 14,182 

- 
- - , - (663) 

(706) (101) 
(2.164) (1.665) 

(3,533) (12,242) 

32,096 1,940 
(32.096) (1,940) 

$ -  s -  

- (10,476) ’ 

- 
- 

- - - - 
Management has established a valuation allowance for the portion of deferred tax assets for which realization is uncertain. The net 

change in the total valuation allowance for the year ended December 3 1,2004 was an increase of $30.2 million. The net changc in the 
total valuation allowance for the year ended December 3 1,2003 was an increase of $ I .9 million. 

As of December 3 I ,  2004 the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for Federal and state income tax purposes of 
approximately $49.9 million and $28.0 million, rcspectively, available to reduce future income subject to income taxes. The Federal 
net operating loss carryforwards expire beginning in 2021 through 2024. State net operating loss carryforwards expire in 2014. 

As of December 3 1,2004, unused California Enterprize Zone tax credits of approximately $2.0 million are available to reduce 
future California income taxes. California Enterprize Zone tax credits carry forward indefinitely until utilized. 

Federal and state laws impose substantial restrictions on the utilization of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards in the 
event of an “ownership change,” as defined in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company does not believe that its 
utilization of net operating loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards should be significantly restricted. 

13. Related Party Transactions 

Buy Alarm Company (Bay Alarm) 
Bay Alarm (a stockholder of the Company) and its subsidiary, InReach Internet, LLC, are collectively a large customer of 

telephone network services, comprising approximately I .3% of the Company’s revenues for 
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both the years ended December 3 1,2004 and 2003. As of December 3 1,2004 and 2003 the Company had amounts receivable from 
Bay Alarm of $0 and $8,000, respectively. These amounts are included in trade accounts receivable, net in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets. 

The Company leases a facility in Oakland from Bay Alarm. Rents paid under this lease were $359,000, $334,000 and $289,000 for 
the years ended 2004,2003 and 2002, respectively. Bay Alam provides the Company with security monitoring services at its normal 
commercial rates. The Company has recorded an immaterial amount (less than $100,000) for these services in each of the years ended 
December 3 I ,  2004,2003 and 2002. All expenses paid to Bay Alarm are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in 
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 

Notes Receivable from Stockholders 

In 1998, a stockholder of the Company, who is also an officer, purchased 37,500 shares of common stock from the Company for 
$250,000. The Company received $50,000 in cash frnm the stockholder acd entered into a note receivable for the remaining balance 
of $200,000. This amount was fully repaid in 2003. 

14. Retirement Plan: 

The Company has a 401 (k)-retirement plan (the Plan) for all full-time employees who have completed 90 days of service. The 
plan year is from January 1 to December 3 I ,  and the Company contributes $0.50 for every $ I  .OO contributed by the employee, subject 
to a limit of 3 percent of the employee’s salary. Participants become fully vested after six years, although they vest incrementally on 
an annual basis after two years of service. The Company’s matching contributions were $45 1,000, $303,000 and $378,000 for the 
years ended December 3 1,2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. These amounts are included in selling, general and administrative 
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 

15. Segment Reporting 

Based on criteria established by SFAS No. 13 I ,  “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” the 
Company has determined that it has one reportable operating segment. While the Company’s chief decision-maker monitors the 
revenue streams of various services, the revenue streams share many expenses such as leased transport charges and circuits. In 
addition, operations are managed and financial performance is evaluated based upon the delivery of multiple services over common 
networks and facilities. This allows the Company to leverage its costs in an effort to maximize return. As a result, the revenue streams 
share almost all of the various operating expenses. Because management believes that any allocation of the expenses to multiple 
revenue streams would be impractical and arbitrary, management does not currently make such allocations internally. The chief 
decision-maker does, however, monitor revenue streams at a more detailed level than those depicted in the Company’s accompanying 
consolidated financial statements. 
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The significant revenue components for the years ended December 3 1,2004,2003 and 2002 are as follows: 

Intercamer compensation 
Direct billings to SP customers 
Direct billings to Enterprise customers 
Outbound local and long distance 
Dedicated transport 
Switched access 
Other 

2004 2003 

(Dollars in thousands) 
S 39.822 $ 47,062 

42,925 44,971 
19,526 17,337 
1 1,409 12,706 
4.277 5,573 
5,303 6,046 
744 945 - 

S 124,006 - $134,640 - 

2002 

S 79,912 
41,505 
12.861 
13,236 
8,942 
(7,165 

477 - 
$164,098 - 

16. Unaudited Quarterly Consolidated Financial Data 

The following is a summary of quarterly consolidated financial results for the fiscal years ending 2004,2003 and 2002. 

2004: 
Revenue 
Gross margin 
Net loss 
Net loss per share: 

Basic and Diluted 
2003: 

Revenue 
Gross margin 
Net income (loss) 
Net income (loss) per share: 

Basic and Diluted 
2002: 

Revenue 
Gross margin 
Net income (loss) 
Net income (loss) per share: 

Basic and Diluted 

March 31 June  30 September 30 December 31 

$ 29,423 
$ 18,931 
$ (7,165) 

$ (0.20) 

S 30,515 
S 19,817 
$(10,324) 

$ (0.28) 

$ 43,092 
S 29,332 
$ 7,384 

$ 0.20 

(Dollars in thousands except per share amounts) 

S 27,837 
S 16,689 
$ (9,105) 

$ (0.25) 

5 45.723 
$ 38,718 
$ 9.171 

$ 0.25 

$ 38,499 
$ 24,492 
$ (13.388) 

S (0.37) 

$31,652 
$23,117 
$ (3,127) 

$ (0.08) 

$30,312 
$ 2  1,483 
$ (4.3 14) 

$ (0.12) 

$ 34,201 
$21,723 
$ 4,889 

S 0.13 

S 35,094 
$ 25.435 
$ (55,636) 

$ (1.52) 

$ 28,090 
S 18,336 
$ (9,783) 

$ (0.27) 

$ 48,306 
$ 35.026 
S 3,161 

$ 0.09 

The fourth quarter of 2004 includes an impairment of assets charge of $54.9 million. 

The first quarter of 2002 includes a gain on extinguishment of debt of $1 1.9 million. 

The second quarter of 2002 includes a restructuring charge of $9.3 million and an impairment of assets charge of $7.2 million. 

The third quarter of 2002 includes a gain on extinguishment of debt of $14.9 million. 
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The fourth quarter of 2002 includes a gain on extinguishment of debt of $7.0 million, an impairment of assets charge of 
$9.4 million and in revenues a settlement for various disputes of $1 5.8 million. 

17. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 

During the first quarter of 2004, the Company completed its acquisition of the assets and certain of the liabilities of Sentient 
Group, Inc., a small provider of fully hosted, managed voice and data services for business communications. The acquisition has been 
accounted for as a purchase and, accordingly, the total estimated purchase price has been allocated to the tangible and intangible assets 
acquired based on their respective fair values on the acquisition date. Intangible assets were recorded for the customer base in the 
amount of $86,000 and is being amortized over I5 years. As of December 31,2004, the balance of these intangible assets were 
$8 1,000 and are recorded in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet. 

The excess of the cash purchase price, $576,000, over the fair value of tangible and intangible net assets acquired was recorded as 
Goodwill in the amauct of 3375,000. As of December 3 1,2004, the balance of goodwill was reduced to $1 19,000 c a result >fan 
asset impairment. 

18. Subsequent Events 

On March 11, 2005, the Company sold the majority of its enterprise customer base to U.S. TelePacific Cop.  (TelePacific) while 
retaining its associated network assets. Under the terms of this transaction, TelePacific acquired certain assets and assumed certain 
liabilities associated with the enterprise customers in exchange for $26.9 million in cash. In addition, the Company entered into a 
transition service agreement with TelePacific that, among other things, obligates it to provide certain transition services to TelePacific 
at its estimated cost, for a one-year period subject to extension for two additional threemonth periods. 

Pursuant to the terms of the Payoff Letter (the “Payoff Letter”), by and between the Company and Deutsche Bank, the Company 
utilized the proceeds from the sale of its enterprise customer base to TelePacific on March 11,2005, as well as cash on hand, to prepay 
in full its Senior Secured Note (including all outstanding principal and accrued and unpaid interest), and retired the related warrants to 
acquire up to 26,666,667 shares of the Company’s common stock in connection with the Senior Secured Note. 

On March 1 I ,  2005, the Company determined that, in connection with the completion of the sale of the enterprise customer base, it 
recorded net restructuring and other charges of approximately $750,000, primarily consisting of employee separation costs for 
employees previously associated with the enterprise customer base. Out of this amount, the Company anticipates that hture cash 
expenditures associated with the separation plan will be approximately $300,000. This separation plan will impact approximately 150 
employees, the majority of which were involuntary terminations. The Company anticipates that the majority of the employees 
associated with this separation plan will leave their positions by the end of 2005. 
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SCHEDULE I1 -VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS 

(Dollars in thousands) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2004 

Balance at Charged to 
Beginning of Costs and Balance at 

Description Year Expenses Deductions End of Year 

Allowance for doubtful accounts $1,560 S(183) $l,Oll(l) $366 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2003 

Balance a t  Charged to 
Beginning of Costs and Balance at 

Description Year Expenses Deductions , E n d  of Year 

Allowance for doubtful accounts $1,660 $192 $292(1) ' $1,560 
I--- . --.- - 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2002 

Balance at Charged to 
Beginning of Costs and Balance a t  

Description Year Expenses Deductions End of Year 

Allowance for doubtful accounts $1,660 $2.630 $1,008 S 1.978( I )  

(1 )  Deductions represent write-offs. 
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

On December 6,2001, a complaint captioned Krim vs Pac-West Telecomm, Inc., et al., Civil Action No. 01-CV-I 1217, was 
filed in United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against the Company, certain executive officers, and 
various underwriters in connection with our initial public offering. An amended complaint was filed on April 19, 2002. The plaintiffs 
allege that the Company and its officers failed to disclose alleged allocations of shares of the Company’s common stock in exchange 
for excessive brokerage commissions or agreements to purchase shares at higher prices in the aftermarket, in violation of Section 11 of 
the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 1 O(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Substantially similar actions have been filed 
concerning the initial public offerings for more than 300 different issuers, and the cases have been coordinated as In re Initial Public 
Offering Securities Litigation, 21 MC 92. The complaint against the Company seeks unspecified damages on behalf of a purported 
class ofpurchasers of its common stock. In October 2002, the executive officers of the Company were dismissed from the action 
without prejudice by agreement with the plaintiffs, which also resulted in tolling of the statute of limitations. The court dismissed the 
Section 10(b) claim against the Company in 2002. I 

On July 10,2003, a committee of the Company’s board of directors conditionally approved a proposed settlement with the 
plaintiffs in this matter. The settlement would provide, among other things, a release of the Company and of the individual defendants 
for the conduct alleged in the action to be wrongful in the plaintiffs complaint. The Company would agree to undertake other 
responsibilities under the settlement, including agreeing to assign away, not assert, or release certain potential claims the Company 
may have against its underwriters. Any direct financial impact of the proposed settlement is expected to be borne by the Company’s 
insurers who participated in the negotiation of the settlement together with insurers representing other issuers in the class action case. 
The committee agreed to approve the settlement subject to a number of conditions, including the participation of a substantial number 
of other issuer defendants in the proposed settlement, the consent of the Company’s insurers to the settlement, and the completion of 
acceptable final settlement documentation. Furthermore, the settlement is subject to a hearing on fairness and approval by the court 
overseeing the litigation. 

From time to time, the Company is a party to litigation that arises in the ordinary course of business. The Company believes that 
the resolution of this litigation, and any other litigation the Company may be involved with in the ordinary course of business, will not 
materially harm its business, financial condition or results of operations. 

In addition the Company is also a party to various legal proceedings relating to intercarrier compensation payment and other 
interconnection agreement issues. These are discussed in more detail in “Business -Regulation” in item I to this form 10-K. 
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interconnect their networks to allow for the exchange of traffic and the recovery of costs associated with exchanging such traffic. In 
addition, like the SBC agreement, it includes a new transport charge applicable to VNXX Calls and makes the intercarrier 
compensation rates established by the FCC Plan effective upon the commencement of the term of the new agreement. The terms of the 
agreement also incent us to modify our existing network in order to avoid these transport charges. Such modifications have been 
completed. We expect that intercarrier compensation will continue to represent a significant portion of our revenues in the future 
although, based on current market conditions, we expect the per minute intercarrier compensation rate will continue to decline from 
historic rates under interconnection agreements in the future. Furthermore, the policies of the CPUC and other regulatory bodies are 
subject to change with respect to issues, which affect the economic structure of interconnection agreements in other ways, and these 
issues can differ from time to time. 

Regulatory Legal Proceedings 

In July 2003 Verizon appealed the arbitration decision of the CPUC to Federal District Court, arguing among other things that the 
FCC Plan intercarrier compensation rates, which are contained in the new agreement but lower than the comparable rates in the 
agreement being replaced, should have been made retroactive. We have opposed the relief sought by Verizon, and have challenged the 
legality of the new transport charges imposed on VNXX traffic. It is not possible to determine the outcome of this proceeding at this 
time. 

Nevada Regulatory Proceedings and Judicial Appeals 

In September 1999, Nevada Bell filed suit in U.S. Federal District Court in Reno to overturn a Public Utilities Commission of 
Nevada decision requiring Nevada Bell to pay US intercarrier cornpensation for terminating traffic to Internet service providers. On 
March 2 1,2001, in ruling on cross-motions for summary judgment, the district court vacated the Public Utilities Commission of 
Nevada decision and remanded the matter to the Public Utilities Commission of Nevada with instructions to redo its analysis 
regarding intercarrier compensation. We appealed this decision to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. The Ninth 
Circuit upheld the district court and the matter have been remanded to the Public Utilities Commission of Nevada. It is not possible to 
determine the outcome of this proceeding at this time. 

Local Regulation 

Our network is subject to numerous local regulations such as building codes and licensing requirements. Such regulations vary on 
a city-by-city and county-by-county basis. To the extent we decide in the future to install our own fiber optic transmission facilities, 
we will need to obtain rights-of-way over private and publicly owned land and pole attachment authorizations. There can be no 
assurance that such rights-of-way or authorizations will be available to us on economically reasonable or advantageous terms. We 
could also be subject to unexpected franchise requirements and be required to pay license or franchise fees based on a percentage of 
gross revenues or some other formula. 

Employees 

As of December 31,2004, we had 373 employees. We believe that our future success will depend on our continued ability to 
attract and retain highly skilled and qualified employees. None of our employees are currently represented by a collective bargaining 
agreement. We also believe that we enjoy good relationships with our employees. As a result of the recent sale of our enterprise 
customer base to TelePacific, as of March 14,2005 our employee base was reduced to approximately 250 employees. The reduction in 
force was due to terminations of our employees primarily responsible for enterprise customers. 

Available Information 

Our Annual Report on Form 1 0-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to reports 
filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are available free of charge on our 
Investor Relations web site at www.pacwest.com as soon as 
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